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PREFACE

It is with a heavy heart we present this 1928 volume.
Our beloved Doc, comrade Gangadhar Adhikari, is no more
with us to guide us at every step in editing these docu-
ments. His was a lifelong service to the communist move-
ment which he had first joined in the middle twenties in
Berlin where he was a brilliant student of science. He
was one of the foremost builders and leaders of the Com-
munist Party of India from 1928 onwards. He had de-
cided to devote the last phase of his life to make avail-
able the documents which provide one of the most essen-
tial source materials for writmg the history of the Com-
munist Party of India.

It was in this last phase o,t:lus life that intense per-
sonal bereavements and even, funfortunately, the loss of
his eyesight occurred. But nathmg could daunt him. The
titan that he was, he worked ﬁll the very last, inspiring
all of us with his advice, with his personal genial tem-
perament, his never-failing paternal affection ta younger
comrades and always full of the #Hirth, humour and joys
of life.

He had completed the . first eight chapters of this 1928
volume, including the writing of the Introduction to it,
which we have decided to collect separately as Part I of
this volume.

The documents we are presenting here in Part II of
this 1928 volume are based on the work which he could
not complete. But he had already helped to arrange most
of these documents which we have collected here as Part
II and had left behind indications both verbal and written
as to which of them need to be produced in the volume
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in full and which are to be used for reference purposes
only.

Following closely his instructions, but adding whatever
has to be done for this period covering Part II, which ex-
tends from July to December 1928, ie from the Sixth
Congress of the Communist International to the Calcutta
session of the Indian National Congress, we divide this
period into these broad heads:

I. VI Congress of the Communist International (from
17 July to 1 September 1928), but we concentrate natu-
rally on those documents only which have a bearing on
India.

II. The Calcutta session of the Indian National Congress
from 26 to 31 December 1928 and the activities of the
‘Independence for India League’ arising out of the deli-
berations of the Madras session of the Congress (1927),
where the Indian National Congress has declared its goal
to be ‘complete national independence’ for India.

III. The all-India Conference of the Workers and Pea-
sants Party in Calcutta from 23 to 28 December 1928.

Iv. 'The Calcutta meeting of the Central Executive
Cozqmﬂctee of the Communist Party of India, held under
semi-illegal conditions, minutes of which are available.

. The Introduction to this Part II has been written en-
tirely by us without the benefit of Doc’s advice and
guidance,

'S

DiLip Bose
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. INTRGDUCTION

I

New PHASE oF INpiA’s NATIONAL MOVEMENT

A new phase of India’s national movement for independ-
ence opens with the entry on the political arena of the
mass activities of the class-conscious organisations of
workers and peasants. This is the keynote of the two arti-
cles with which we open this volume devoted to
1928. This is the year in which the militant trade-union
movement emerged as a new mass forcc led by the work-
ers and peasants parties. These parties, as we have seen,
arose first in Madras (1924), then in Bengal (1926) and
in Bombay (1927). It will be remiembered that one of the
charges against the communists arrested in the Kanpur
Bolshevik Conspiracy Case was that they were trying to
form workers and peasants party.

In 1928, as we shall see, these parties were formed in
the Punjab, in UP and in Ajmer-Marwara. The commun-
ists took the initiative to build these parties, firstly, as a
legal forum to bring all those together who were coming
forward to build militant class-conscious organisations of
workers and peasants to conduct their struggles for their
urgent demands and, secondly, to wunite all those who
were seeking to give a national revolutionary program of
action to the freedom movement.

This is the year of the great textile workers’ general
strike of Bombay which resulted in the formation of the
Bombay Girni Kamgar Union (Red Flag). This is the year

PHD-1
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of the militant strike of EI Railway workers (Lilooa.h
workshop) and jute workers’ strikes in Bengal. This is
also the year of the South Indian Railway workers’ strike
in which its leaders M. Singaravelu and Mukundalal Sarkar

were sentenced to 10 years’ RI.

In short, it was the year of the emergence of the red-
flag movement of the workers and peasants in which the
militant trade-union movement which came forward :n
the above-mentioned massive strikes was the main force.

The writer of the first article (Document I) is Ghulam
Ambia Khan Luhani, who hailed from Sirajgang, now in
Bangladesh. He was associated with the Indian revolution-
aries who contacted the leaders of the Communist Inter-
national in 1921.! In later years, he was working with the
Indian communists abroad and followed the developments
in India and contributed articles to international journals.
Clemens Dutt, the author of the second article (Document
2), was the elder brother of Rajani Palme Dutt. He was
in close touch with M. N. Roy and helped him to main-
tain contact with the communists in India. His activities
and his articles on India in the Labour Monthly and other
Jjournals made him a persona non grata with the British
authorities, who refused him a visa when he wanted to
visit India in 1927. Both of them, recording their im-
pressions in February and March 1928, shrewdly anti-
<ipated the emerging trend of events, which, as we have
seen, was already visible in the strike struggles of the
latter part of 1927.

The massive participation of the workers of Bombay irn
the “Boycott-Simon-Commission!” movement was yet to take
Pplace when Luhani was writing his article. But he was
able to record the decision of the municipal workers of
Bombay in this connection and the refusal of their union
to slide back despite threats of the authorities. He
refers to similar proposed actions by the dock and railway
workers of Bombay. Luhani refers to the “Workers and

1. See Documents, Vol 1, p 254.
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Peasants Party ... functioning in the principal provinces of
India as the legal political organisation of the proletariat
and the peasants” and quotes from its manifesto on the
royal commission.? That manifesto correctly warned the
national leaders not to quibble over the personnel of the
commission but to see the point that the appointment ot
such a commission by a foreign power is a violation of the
right of selfdetermination, which is the inherent right of
every nation. It quotes from The Masses, edited by M. N.
Rey, which had put forward the slogan of a national
constituent assembly. The Workers and Peasants Party
had already put forward that slogan in its manifesto to the
Madras session of the Indian National Congress (Decem-
ber 1927) .3

Luhani also refers to the Punjabi monthly journal Kirti.
The issue which he saw abroad must have been one of the
latter part of 1927. Because when it started in February
1926, its title page did not carry the red flag he refers to.
All the issues of 1926 and those of;1927 up to August have
a coloured picture depicting garidnds being placed on a
martyr’s body. At the top there w&re two lines which said,
“Dedicated to the memory of thé{martyrs who came for-
ward in those days when the wotﬁ for the cause was more
difficult than it is today.” There was also another slogan
on the front page addressed to the workers: “With your
own hands you will have to work for the cause (of your
liberation).” Curiously enough the first page inside carried
the slogan “Om Guruprasad”, 1nvok1ng blessing of an un-
named guru (teacher).

The founder and editor of this monthly throughout 1928
was Bhai Santokh Singh of the Gadar Party. Looking
through the contents of the first volume one sees that they
are such as to inspire the reader to take up the organisa-
tion of workers and peasants so that they play their role
in the national revolutionary movement of the country.
The very first issue (February 1926) contains a report of

3. See Documents, Vol I B, pp 281-82.
3. Ibid, pp 301-6.
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communist conference held in Kanpur in Decem-
31; iliggg with extracts from the speecpes of Ha§rat Mohani
and M. Singaravelu. There are a Series of articles on ‘\:.he
British coalminers’ strike and the 1926 great general st.nke
of British workers. There is an article by N. M. Joshi on
the trade unions in India, and on the strike struggle of
1926. There are articles from the pen of Agnes S'medle,v
describing the sufferings of the Indian revolutionaries
who were forced to emigrate. That the group around the
magazine was in touch with Communist Party of Indis,
is proved by the fact that in its October issue, it reports
about the proposal to hold the second communist confer-
ence and the request to S. Saklatvala to preside over the
same, a proposal which, as we have seen, was ultimately
dropped.

From 21 January 1927 Sohan Singh Josh assumed the
editorship of the magazine. The change in the get-up of
the title page took place from the September 1927 issue.
Josh recalls that Punjabi communists abroad did not ap-
preciate the earlier title page and they sent another one
designed by them. This showed a worker and a peasant
standing hand in hand, while on the top is a red flag with
the hammer and sickle. It was a three-coloured picture.
Still later, another picture was put on the title page,
which showed a worker destroying with his hammer a

whole hill—the hill bearing the title “Old order of exploi-
tation.”

The Kirti issues of 1927 reflect the events of that year.
They contain articles on Saklatvala’s visit to India, on the
first conference of the League against Imperialism in Brus-
sels, on the May meeting of the CPI in Bombay. It con-
tains reports on the release of S. A. Dange and of Shaukat
Usmani. It gives life sketches of the prisoners of the
famous Kakori case. The June issue appears with thick
black borders, mourning the passing away of Bhai Santokh
Singh and was devoted to his life and work. This issue con-
tains a photograph showing the body of Bhai Santokh Singh
lying in state, sitting round it are Bhai Visakha Singh, Bhai
Inder Singh, Jathedar Karam Singh Cheema and standing
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behind are Bhai Sohan Singh Josh and the members cf
Bhai Santokh Singh’s family.

The “Notes and Comments” in the June issue contain
interesting items. A note on “The Red Flag” says: “What-
ever the colour or race to which one may belong, the Rus-
sians consider all toiling men to be their own class brothers
and concede to them equal rights. That is why everyone is
‘t8day talking of red flag and the workers particularly love
the red flag.” “This red flag”, says the note, “calls upon the
workers of all lands: ‘Workers of the world, rally round
me. I shall lead you in your struggle for a society based on
equality.””

The June issue has an article on the history of the May
Day, while the July issue has a note on the May Day meet-
ings held in India that year, particularly in Bombay and
Madras. In a note referring to S. A. Dange’s statement on
his release from jail it quotes: “The government may want
t0 know whether I have changed or have become softer
than before. I would like to tell the government that I am
the same staunch bolshevik, the pame staunch communist
as before. I firmly stand by the $ame program and prin-
ciples that I held before.” The comment of the magazine on
this is: “In the words of Sambamurthy, we also wish that
India should produce thousands pf Danges, so that the pre-
sent society can be changed and in its place a new society
‘worthy of human beings is born.”

Issues of October, November and December 1927 contain
several articles on the 10th anniversary of the October
Socialist Revolution in Russia, on the 8th session of the
AITUC, the Chinese struggle for freedom, and how Punjaki
policemen in China left British service and went out to
support the Chinese revolution. It contains an article on the
boycott of Simon commission and finally and in February
1928 it reports about a workers’ public meeting in which
‘the Simon commission is condemned and the call to organ-
ise the workers and peasants is given. The contents of the
Kirti for 1926 and 1927 show that the group round it was
Ppopularising the same political program and line which the
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workers and peasants parties in Bengal and Bombay were
putting forward, and in 1928, with the formation the Nau-
javan Bharat Sabha, and later of the Kirti Kisan Party,
the communists in the Punjab started their mass activities.

Luhani’s comment on Kirti is quite justified. The succes-
sive changes in the get-up of the title page also record
to a certain extent a progressive change in the contents.
It should be recorded here that young Bhagat Singh,
a member of Naujavan Bharat Sabha, was working as &
subeditor in the Kirti office in early 1928 when Sohan
Singh Josh was acting as the editor-in-chief after the
passing away of Santokh Singh. After the formation of
the Kirti Kisan Party of the Punjab in 1928, Kirti became
the cultural and political organ of the party. Later in
April 1928 its Urdu edition was started. In 1928 Abdul
Majid started Mehnatkash, which was more directly devo-
ted to the trade-union and workingclass movement. It
was also an organ of the Kirti Kisan Party of the Punjab.
We have already stated that the workers and peasants
parties in Bengal and in Bombay had their respective
weekly organs: Ganavani in Bengali edited by Muzaffar
Ahmad from Calcutta and Kranti in Marathi edited by S. S.
Mirajkar from Bombay in 1927 and by Dange when it was
restarted in 1928.

Luhani, characterising the new phase, refers to the big
workingclass actions of 1927, viz the BNR workers’ strike
and the oil workers’ strike in Madras. He pointedly refers
to the initiative of the militant rank-and-file leadership
in both these strikes as a new feature. He also refers to a
WPP member being in touch with the BNR strike and to
the move of the workers to contact the unions on other
railways to bring about an all-India railway general strike
in solidarity with the struggle of the BNR workers if their
just demands are not conceded. An offensive of retrench-
ment and victimisation against the militant mood of the
workers on all railways was launched by the railway
authorities and by the British government. Discontent on
the SIR, where a strong union existed, was brewing.»

4. For Joglekar’s pasticipation and report see ibid, p 266.
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These and similar rank-and-file actions in the oil workers’
strike in Madras are the precursors of bigger events—the
great textile strikes in Bombay (April to October 1928),
the jute and municipal workers’ strikes in Calcutta, and
the great SIR workers’ strike in Madras to be described in
this part further on.

Clemens Dutt’s article focuses attention on another
aspect of the new phase, viz the decisive left-wing turn in
the national-liberation movement as reflected in the reso-
lutions and the decisions of the Madras session of the
Indian National Congress in December 1927.

This article which appeared in the March 1928 issue of
the Labour Monthly was actually written in the middle of
February after the author had received the full press reports
of the Madras session. Analysing radical resolutions passed
there—on complete independence, on war danger, on the
support to the freedom struggle of the Chinese people, and
greetings to the Russian people on the tenth anniversary
of their revolution—Clemens Dutt refers to the action of the
rank-and-file of the Congress in bringing about this shift
to the left. He also refers to theﬁ role of the Workers and
Peasants Party members, who. wgre working in the Indian
National Congress, in bringing about that shift. In this con-
nection he also refers to a draft tesolutlonucum-program for
the National Congress put forWard by the WPP member
K. N. Joglekar before the May 1927 session of AICC held in
Bombay, which put forward the demand for complete inde-
pendence and a charter of anti-imperialist, antifeudal, demo-
cratic demands.?

Clemens Dutt’s article is addressed to the rank-and-file
of the British Labour Party. It sharply criticises the com-
promising role of the British labour leaders who are not
prepared to concede India’s right to selfdetermination and
independence and points out that the militant section of
the British working class will support this demand in soli-
darity with the left-wing of the Indian national freedom

5. Ibid, pp 169-73.
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movement and with the organised workers and peasants of
India who are now emerging as an independent political
force in India.

Both Luhani and Clemens Dutt state in their articles that
though the national bourgeois leaders are putting forward
anti-imperialist “national demands” now in the most ad-
vanced form of complete independence, they are not pre-
pared to lead the masses into revolutionary mass action to
implement it. On the other hand they will seek the pressure
of the mass movement to achieve a compromise with Bri-
tish imperialism on the basis of “dominion status” within
the British empire. We have seen how the same analysis
was made by Rajani Palme Dutt in his booklet Modern
India (1926) and by M. N. Roy in his pamphlet The Future
of Indian Politics.® .

It should be pointed out here that simultaneously with
this article published in the Inprecor of February 1928,
Luhani had contributed a very long and detailed article to
the Communist International—the official organ of the
Comintern—which was published in two parts in its issues
of January and February 1928.

In this article entitled “Developments in the Political
Situation in India”, Luhani quotes figures showing the
growth of textile and jute industries, iron and steel, railways
and shipping together with workshops, docks and ship-build-
ing yards connected with them. He takes an exaggerated view
of the growth and character of the industrialisation that was
taking place between 1914 and 1926. British finance capi-
tal is the main factor initiating and dominating this deve-
lopment for the purposes of colonial exploitation of India
in the interest of imperialist Britain. Indian capital has been
taking increasing share in this, thus becoming a growing
force to be reckoned with. In this situation and when
British capitalism in crisis at home was unable to export
more capital to India, Indian capital will be able to take
a growing share in the process of industrialisation. In this

6. Cf Documents, II1A. pp 113-54.
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way a theory is put forward that British imperialism, facing
a crisis at home, is reversing its policy of keeping India an
industrially backward colony; it is now allowing Indian
capital to participate in this process of industrialisation as
a junior partner of British imperialism. Thus the Indian
national bourgeoisie, its demand for industrialisation being
met to a certain extent by the grace of British imperialism,
jeins the ranks of the counter-revolutionary forces of Bri-
tish imperialism and Indian feudalists for the joint exploi-
tation of Indian masses. India’s liberation revolution is
therefore to be carried out by the broad anti-imperialist
antifeudal united front of the workers, the peasants, the
urban and rural petty bourgeoisie and the rural poor. This is
in fact, the theory of decolonisation, solemnly put forward
in a long article by Luhani in two above-mentioned issues
of the official organ of the Comintern, which came up for
discussion at the sixth congress of the Comintern.

We are not reproducing this article because Luhani was
not the author of this theory. Reference to “decolonisa-
tion” occurs in a document written by M. N. Roy at the
end of 1927 after his return frof: China. This document is
produced in a later section where the whole question ' of
India’s industrialisation was discussed at the sixth congress
of the Comintern. X

It should be mentioned here that in an article published
in the Communist International, July 1928, ie before the
sixth world congress opened, Clemens Dutt had firmly re-
pudiated the socalled theory of decolonialisation. In this
article: “India’s Part in World Revolution”, he points out
that there had been a certain modification in the policy of
promoting Indian industries pursued during the first world
war. This modification became particularly noticeable dur-
ing the postwar crisis when British finance capital took cer-
tain financial and fiscal measures which sharply affected
India’s industrial development. He writes:

“The policy of concessions has given place to the policy
of the mailed-fist, to forcible demonstration of the supre-
macy of the British power.
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“In examining the economic background for this policy,
it should be noted first that in spite of the shocks occas-
sioned by the war and postwar crisis, British imperialism
has been successful in maintaining all key positions of con-
trol in its hands. There has been no decolonisation of
India! (emphasis added). India remains a classic example
of a colonial country exploited to the full by foreign im-
perialism. Especially the monopolist hold over currency,
banking and finance generally, and over foreign trade,
with predominance in industrial production and the direc-
tion of internal trade, serve to secure the position register-
ed politically in subordination to the British parliament
and control from the India Office in London.”

I1
Boycortr oF StmMoN COMMISSION

We have already recorded the hostile reaction of 1tne
Indian public opinion as reflected in the resolutions of the
Kanpur session of the AITUC (November 1927) and the
Madras session of the Indian National Congress (Decem-
ber 1927) to the appointment of a statutory commission for
India by the British parliament. In mid-February 1928 the
Indian Legislative Assembly rejected the official motion to
appoint a committee to cooperate with the Simon commis-
sion by 66 to 59 votes. Meanwhile preparations were going
ahead to observe hartal and demonstrations against the
commission when it would land in Bombay on 3 February
1928.

The Workers and Peasants Party started its preparations
for the campaign of boycott soon after its leaders returned
from the Madras session of the Congress. Even a “Mani-
festo of the WPP of India on the Boycott of the Simon Com-
mission” was drafted by Muzaffar Ahmad and Philip Spratt
in the first week of J anuary 1928 in which the idea was
put forward to couple the boycott campaign with the de-
mand for convening a constituent assembly. However, this
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document was neither adopted nor published as stated by
Muzaffar Ahmad. Still the prosecution produced it as evi-
dence in the Meerut trial.?

The first document (Document 3) in this section is the
resolution on the boycott adopted by the enlarged meet-
ing of the executive of the WPP of Bombay on 29 January
1928. Its main purpose was to prepare for united mass cam-
Paign and actions on 3 February when the commission was
due to land in the Bombay port.

This enlarged meeting was attended by 36 sympathisers
apart from the members of the executive. Prominent among
the members of the executive present were: D. R. Thengdi
(president), S. S. Mirajkar (secretary) as well as R. S.
Nimbkar, K. N. Joglekar and S. A. Dange.

Among the sympathisers present were S. H. Jhabvala
(later a veteran labour leader), A.A. Alve and Babu (B.T.)
Alve (later worker-leader of the famous GKU), Kulkarni
(D.B.?) and Zulmiram Chowdhury (both of GI¥ Railway
Workers’ Union), Sadanand (0{ ;the Port Trust Workers’
Union), Ushatai Dange and a wéman municipal worker
(both of Municipal Workers’ Umion) and a peasant from
Junnar taluk who accompani them. Those working
among the youth and students, who happened to be pre-
sent at the meeting were Yusuf .J. Meherally who was later
to become a prominent congress-socxahst leader, one Srin-
garpure, then active among the students, and two students
from the Wilson College. Leading sympathisers present
were T. V. Parvate and V. H. Joshi, close associates of S. A.
Dange, who were earlier active in the Kanpur case defence
committee organised in Bombay for him; A. B. Khardikar,
who later secretly went to Moscow, and after his return
was variously active for the party till his death and has
done valuable work in translating Marxist materials from
Russian journals; and finally C. G. Shah, Marxist intellec-
tual and writer, who also later in life remained a sym-
pathiser of the party.

7. Ibid, pp 129-32.
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This impressive list gives us an insight into how the WPP
had a wide circle of cadres and sympathisers in the exist-
ing trade unions and student and youth organisations and
among intellectual circles and how meticulously it was
preparing for the anti-Simon-commission demonstration
by mobilising all these forces for a united workingclass
action.

On the eve of the landing of the commission in Bombdy
both the provincial congress committee and the WPP (Bom-
bay) which were closely cooperating in the boycott cam-
paign, issued their respective manifestos. R. S. Nimbkar, a
prominent member of the WPP executive was at that time
the secretary of the BPCC and K. N. Joglekar, another
member of the executive, was a BPCC member. R. S.
Nimbkar’s account of the boycott campaign, reproduced
here (Document 4) gives us an idea of how this joint action
of the Congress and WPP was carried out.

The manifesto of the WPP issued to the press in Bombay
by its secretary, S. S. Mirajkar,® and his account of the cam-
paign (Document 5) brings out sharply the prominent role
the working class and its open political party, the WPP,
played in this national campaign. In accordance with its re-
solution (Document 1) the WPP firstly, emphasised
India’s right to selfdetermination and complete indepen-
dence and coupled the national hartal action with the mili-
tant strike action of the working class in which the orga-
nised municipal and textile workers played a prominent
part. Youth and student movement which was already
playing a significant role in giving the national freedom
movement a revolutionary turn, played a big role in this
national campaign. In Bombay it was the youth and stu-
dent demonstration which went to the Alexandra Docks
to show black flags to the commission on landing, defying
the police bandobast, marching back to the meeting, they
burnt the day’s copy of the Times of India which had cri-
ticised the boycott campaign.

3 February was declared an all-India protest day. Meet-~

8. Ibid, pp 281-82.
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ings and demonstrations took place in other cities a9
well. This attracted considerable attention in international
circles. The Masses of India carried an article in the issue
of April 1928. Inprecor also produced an analytical news
report entitled “The Protest movement against the Simon
Commiission in India”,? by G. A. K. Luhani, which we are
not reproducing here. Both these articles, apart from giving
an appraisal of the role the communists and the WPP
played in the national campaign to boycott the Simon com-
mission, gave a rough picture of countrywide character of
this movement. At the time these articles were written the
writers had only very few contemporary press reports be-
fore them.

Newspapers reported that protest hartals, demonstra-
tions and meetings took place in all the principal cities of
India—Calcutta, Madras, Lahore, Lucknow, Delhi, in all the
14 districts of Central Provinces and also at Peshawar.

In Calcutta a hartal was observed and no business was
iransacted at the share and jute markets. About 50 volun-
teers were arrested on 3 February 1928. Again on 20 Febru-
ary, the Bengal provincial congress committee organised a
protest meeting which was pneceded by processions with
the slogans ‘Go Back Simon!’ ‘Boycott Foreign Goods!’
ete. 10

In Madras the hartal was a complete success. There were
clashes between the police and the demonstrating masses in
which 17 persons were injured, one of them died later in the
hospital. In a boycott meeting in the afternoon of that day
presided over by Satyamurthi, police repression was con-
demned and a boycott resolution adopted.

In Lahore a huge all-party protest meeting was held
under the chairmanship of Duni Chand.

Peshawar observed a total hartal and a joint meeting of
hindus, muslims and sikhs presided over by Abdul Ghaffar
Khan adopted the boycott resolution.

9. International Press Correspondence (Inprecor), Vol 8, No 8,
16 February 1928.

. 10. All these facts are taken from newspaper reports quoted from
Simon Commission and Indian Nationalism, by S. R. Buch.
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It is not true that in October 1928 when the commission
paid its second visit the national boycott campaign was
dropped. In Lahore a massive demonstration organised by
the Punjab congress committee and the Naujavan Bharat
Sabha, and led by the veteran nationalist leader IL.ala Laj-
pat Rai was brutally lathi-charged by the British police.
The lathi blow received by Lalaji later led to his death on
17 November 1928. A feeling message from Romain Rolland
referring to this incident and sent to the Calcutta
session of the Indian National Congress, is in the record of
Meerut case in the French original. Its English rendering

reads thus:
Villeneuve (Vand)

4 December 1928

Dear Sir,

Here is the copy of the message that I had sent on 26
November in two copies: to Jawaharlal Nehru and to the
Indian Friends to be given to the president of Indian
National Congress.

The day when I wrote this letter I knew about the death
of Lajpat Rai who was my friend and whose intrepid cha-
racter and high political intelligence I admired. But I was
not yet aware of the cause of his death on which the Eng-
lish Press was silent.

Now as I know it, I request you to add to my message the
expression of my grief and my indignation for that das-
tardly assassination.

With best wishes.

RomaiN RoLrLanD

The protest demonstration in Lucknow, in which Jawa-
harlal Nehru and G. B. Pant were hurt in a police lathi-
charge, took place in November 1928.

In October S. S. Mirajkar sent a protest telegram to Sir
John Simon which the Bombay telegraph office refused to
accept. Later Mirajkar sent it to him by post with a cover-
ing letter. The telegram and the accompanying letter form
Document 6 of this section. ‘
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Mirajkar in his Meerut case statement explains how this
Jetter and telegram sent by post to Sir Simon appeared as
a prosecution document in the case. It was not intercepted
by the police like many other documents, but was handed
over to the CID by the private secretary of Sir John Simon
as admitted by the prosecution witness himself.

When the commission arrived in Calcutta in the middle
ofeJanuary 1929 a hartal and massive demonstration took
place. About the role of party in this Muzaffar Ahmad
writes:

“On Saturday last a big demonstration passed through
Calcutta streets to protest against the arrival of Simon
commission. Our party took the most prominent part in it.
‘We came out with red flags and party slogans in black and
white. Aftab and another member were arrested on the spot
for carrying a poster inscribed with the ‘Long Live Revolu-
tion!’ ¥

Actually it was a joint demonstration in which the Ben-
gal provincial congress committee, Bengal provincial trade
union congress and other organisaﬁu'x;xs of students and
youth joined together with the WPE. |

According to Dharani Goswami, the WPP took the initia-
tive to organise the demonstration tog’a_!ther with the BPCC,
and other organisations. “Subhas Chandra Bose, then leader
of the Bengal provincial congress committee, had already
contacted some of us for discussion on the question of
jointly organising an anti-Simon-commission demonstra-
tion. We discussed with him threadbare. He assured us of
full cooperation in rendering all necessary help on behalf
of BPCC.”12 Though Muzaffar Ahmad was not agreeable to
have a joint demonstration with the BPCC, the WPP Ben-
gal executive, by a majority, decided upon the same and
went ahead with the preparation.

“...And a massive demonstration took place in which
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according to the Statesman report (which appeaf‘ed i.n its
next day’s issue) about 2 lakh had attended. This mighty
demonstration panicked the British.”!3

II1

CRITIQUE OF THE “NEHRU CONSTITUTION’’ OF THE
ALL-PARTIES CONFERENCE

The national boycott-Simon-commission campaign not
only challenged the right of British parliamentary commis-
sion to draft a constitution for India but asserted that the
right belonged to the elected representatives of the peo-
ple of India. The Workers and Peasants Party, in its mani-
festo to the Madras session of the National Congress, had
clearly stated that the right belonged to a national consti-
tuent assembly. It had stated that: “India must demand an
absolute unrestricted national constituent assembly, elec-
ted by universal adult suffrage, which shall be the supreme
organ for expressing the will of the people. Nothing short
of that can be accepted. India must become a democratic
country.”

But the Madras session of the National Congress had not
accepted the proposal that a swaraj constitution could only
be prepared by a constituent assembly elected on the basis
of adult suffrage. It had instead adopted a pragmatic ap-
proach and had passed a resolution directing its working
committee “to draft a swaraj constitution on the basis of a
declaration of rights and place it before a special conven-
tion to be convened in Delhi”. The same resolution defined
the composition of the convention as follows: “The AICC
and the leaders of other political, labour, commercial and
communal organisations and the elected members of the
central and provincial legislatures.”

Such a conference was convened in Delhi on 12 Febru-
ary 1928 and became known as All-Parties Conference. It

13. Jbid.
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held its preliminary meetings from 12 February to 11
March 1928. Invitations were also received by the AITUC,
WPP and the CPI (Bombay) as representatives of labour.

As we see from N. M. Joshi’s letter (25 January 1928)
(Document 7), no representative of the AITUC!* seems
to have been present at the opening of the All Parties Con-~
ference at Delhi. But it is on record that the WPP issued
“An Open Letter to the All Parties Conference” (Document
8) .which is dated 10 February 1928 and the text of which
was a prosecution exhibit in the Meerut case. Readers will
see that the document takes the same position towards the
drafting of the constitution for India which is explained
in the document “Labour and Swaraj”.

The AITUC, the premier organisation of working class,
anticipating the move of the national bourgeois parties,
had adopted a resolution at its eighth session at Kanpur
appointing a subcommitee ‘“to draw up a labour constitu-
tion for the future government of India which should be
presented to the executive council and the working clas-
ses”. The subcommittee consisted of Dewan Chamanlal,
N. M. Joshi, P. Spratt, S. H. Jhabvala, ;Kishorilal Ghose,
S. A. Dange, D. R. Thengdi, M. Daud and G. Sethi with
P. Spratt as the convener of the same.!®

In pursuance of this resolution N. M. Joshi, the then gene-
ral secretary of the AITUC, wrote a letter to P. Spratt (25
January 1928) stating that as the subcommittee of which
he is the convener, cannot meet before 12 February, when
the All-Parties Conference is opening at Delhi, it will not
be possible to present any proposal committing the AITUC
on the question before that time (Document 7).

In his covering letter forwarding his views on the func-
tions of the subcommittee and the draft of “Labour and

14. AITUC office-bearers for 1928 were: president C. F. Andrews;
vice-presidents—Dhoondi Raj Thengdi, M. Daud, M4, BL, Dr Biswanath
Mukerjee; general secretary—N. M. Joshi, ML A4, JP; assistant secretaries—
R. R. Bakhale, S. A. Dange; treasurer—F. J. Ginwala, MA4, LLB, MLC.
See also Documents, Vol III-B, p 96.

15. 4ll India Trade Union Congress Bulletin, Vol 4, Nos 6, 7, 8,
December 1927-January and February 1928, p 76.

PHD—2
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Swaraj” to the subcommittee members Spratt explained
why he had not prepared a labour constitution but instead
a document laying down the principles of the same from
the point of view of the working class. This covering letter
explains the point as follows: “I think it is premature
and useless for us to draw up full draft of a constitution but
we may usefully make a statement defining the political
policy and program of the Congress. I enclose also a rough
draft of such a statement.” This draft mentioned here is the
document “Labour and Swaraj”, and the covering letter
was written on the eve of the meeting of the executive coun-
cil of the AITUC taking place in Delhi on 26 February
1928. In this he writes to the members of the subcommittee:
“If you are at Delhi for the executive council meeting on
the 26th, I should like to discuss it with you there. If not,
will you please let me know by letter what you think of this,
and make any suggestion you have to bring forward. I have
written to Mr Joshi proposing this procedure, instead of
calling a special meeting of the subcommittee, at any rate
for the present.” This covering letter, contained two en-
closures: (1) Functions of the Subcommittee and (2) Draft
of “Labour and Swaraj”.

The date 26th here is obviously 26 February 1928, when
the executive council of the AITUC actually met in Delhi.l®

It also proves that the documents “Labour and Swaraj*—
and “Functions of the Subcommittee” were drafted in the
latter part of January 1928.

The two drafts mentioned above are reproduced here
(Document 9).

In the document “Functions of the Subcommittee” Spratt
clarifies the point he has made in his covering letter where
he states the ultimate aim of labour is socialism and this
being so a “labour constitution” can only be the constitution
of an “independent democratic socialist republic”. Therefore,
at the present stage when the working class and the toiling
masses are struggling for the complete independence and

16. Ibid, Vol 4, No 9, March 1929.
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democratic rights for the people of the country, the only
thing possible and necessary was to draft a comprehensive
statement of the political attitude and policy of labour to-
wards this national struggle.

In his draft “Labour and Swaraj” Spratt is formulating
the general principles of a swaraj constitution from the
point of view of the working class and in terms of the left-
wing pronouncements and resolutions of the All India
Trade Union Congress. At the outset he points out that the
AITUC, the premier organisation of the working class,
cannot remain aloof from political struggle. The economic
struggle in the course of its development becomes a political
struggle against the economic, social and political exploita-
tion and oppression of the country as a whole by foreign
finance capitalism, ie by imperialism. He points out that
Dewan Chamanlal in his presidential address before the
last session of the AITUC (Kanpur, November 1927) had
put forward the same idea forcefully. Spratt quotes the
following concluding part of Chamanlal’s address: “I call
upon you, comrades, to raise the banner of your ideals de-
manding nationalisation of land and industry, a civilised
existence, a government of the workers, and economic sys-
tem for the benefit of humanity and pedce. The road is long
but your ideal is worth the travail. May you prosper upor:
your arduous journeyings!”

On the pronouncement and resolution of the AITUC,
Spratt proceeds to outline the basic framework of a swaraj
constitution from the point of view of the working class. If
the swaraj constitution is to fulfil the demands and the
aspirations of the 98 per cent of the people of India and
not of 2 per cent exploiting vested interests, it must be one
which ends the economic and political exploitation and op-
pression of the country and its people by foreign imperial-
ism and by Indian feudal princes and landlords and also by
Indian capitalists. In this sense, the draft “Labour and Swa-
raj” asserts that the constitution of a completely independ-
ent India must enable the people of India to implement
socioeconomic transformations and secure for the people
democratic rights and liberties.
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Later, it appears, this draft was criticised by a section of
the subcommittee as “onesided”. Spratt’s reply in essence
was that it was not only anti-imperialist and antifeudal but
anticapitalist as well, in conformity with the interest ot
the working class which the AITUC represented (see letter
dated 6 December 1928, Document 10). Though the draft
document was circulated to all the members of the sub-
committee, including Chandrika Prasad who was added to
it later, it is not known whether the subcommittee acdep-
ted the same. Spratt refers to a comment received from
one member to which we have referred to above. This was
probably from Chamanlal, which is rather surprising in
view of the fact that the draft based itself on the official
pronouncement and resolution of the AITUC including the
presidential address of Chamanlal himself. The draft, how-
ever, served as a guideline for the drafting of a critique of
the Nehru committee’s report on swaraj constitution.

The draft was preserved and received publicity because
it was seized by the police from the papers of Spratt and
WPP, Bengal and Bombay, and was produced as a prosecu-
tion exhibit in the Meerut conspiracy case against Spratt.

In his explanation, Philip Spratt, in his defence
statement in the Meerut case, not only gives the full
list of the subcommittee but also what happened to the
draft later. He says: “I prepared a draft and sent copies to
all the subcommittee members. But I received only one re-
ply namely from Chamanlal. I do not think any other mem-
ber or the subcommittee ever mentioned the thing to me.
I made an attempt to call a meeting of the subcommittee
at Jharia itself. But that was found to be impossible. Even-
tually a short resolution was drafted by Chamanlal so far
as I know without consulting the other members, and was

moved and passed.”*?

The All Parties Conference, which was convened on the
initiative of the working committee of the Indian National
Congress, was attended by the representatives of all the

17. Spatt’s Statement, Meerut Record, P 425.
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political parties of India as well as the representatives of
the Indian commercial and industrial interests.

This conference, after the preliminary lengthy discussions
in its several meetings in Delhi between 12 February and
11 March 1928, met again in Bombay on 19 May 1928. The
representatives of the WPP and CPI Bombay who, as we
haye seen, were invitees to the conference, attended this
meeting of 19 May in person which they were not able to
do earlier. The report of the propaganda group
signed by S. S. Mirajkar as convener records that Dange, as
the leader of WPP delegation, intervened in the debate on
the resolution appointing the subcommittee to draft the
principles of the constitution. The report records: “Mr S. A,
Dange in a vigorous speech made it clear to those present
that the conference was nothing- but mere farce. The ac-
credited representative of the party ultimately voted
against the resolution of electing a committee to draft the
future constitution in accordance with the party mandate.
It was however necessary while voting on the proposition to
make clear the position of the party and clearly point out
what it stood for; that being not done then a statement why
the party representatives voted against the resolution was
issued to the press.”!® This statement, which was probably
published in the press, has not been. located. It is easy to
see that the statement must have reiterated the position of
the WPP of Bengal as explained in its statement on
the All Parties Conference (Document 11), that only a
constituent assembly elected by adult suffrage is the
proper organ to frame the constitution of India.

It is at this meeting that a subcommittee was appointed
to consider several questions connected with the constitution
such as the communal question and the creation of provin-
ces on linguistic basis and on that basis to draft “the prin-
ciples of swaraj constitution”. Pandit Motilal Nehru was
the convener of the constitution committee, the other mem-
bers being Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Sir Ali Imam, G. R. Pra-

18. Meerut Record, P 1348(2).
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dhan, Shuaib Qureshi, M. S. Aney, M. R. Jayakar, N. M.
Joshi, Sardar Mangal Singh and Subhas Chandra Bose.

A resolution directed this committee to “consider and de-
termine the principles of the constitution for India before
1 July next”. This resolution further says that “the All Par-
ties Conference will meet again early in August 1928 to con-
sider the committee’s report”.

The report produced by this committee, later known as’ the
Nehru committee, was submitted on 10 August 1928 and
was also published in the press as well as made available
to the public in a book form for discussion at the All Parties
Conference and by the general educated public.

After receiving the printed copy of the “Nehru Report”
laying down the “principles of the swaraj constitution” both
the WPP Bengal and AITUC subcommittee mentioned ear-
lier produced their respective criticism of the same (Docu-
ments 10 and 11).

The critique of the Nehru committee report on principles
of the swaraj constitution, made by the WPP Bengal and by
the AITUC subcommittee run on parallel lines and stress
more or less the same points.

The statement of the WPP Bengal represented the views
of WPP Bombay as well as both the organisations had held
their respective conferences early in the year and adopted
identical resolutions on the general political situation and
on mass organisational issues.

At the very outset the WPP correctly points out that the
exercise of producing a swaraj constitution or its principles
agreed by all parties and interests of India was futile if the
purpose was to submit it to the British parliament and get
it accepted by its imperialist leaders. The central issue was
the transfer of power from the British imperialist rulers to
the people of India. The former, however, will never con-
cede this willingly unless they were forced by an indomit-
able struggle of the vast masses of the people. Hence what
was needed at present was an agreed charter of demands
and a program for unleashing a united anti-imperialist strug-
gle for independence, democracy, for transfer of power to
the people of India, so that they win freedom to frame the
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constitution of a sovereign and independent India based
on the charter and program.

The WPP rejects the whole approach of the report and
points out how the whole document is pervaded by an
abject spirit of loyalty to the king and the foreign British
rulers and is a repudiation of India’s right to selfdetermina-
tion. In short, the basic approach of the critique of the all-
parties report made by WPP and AITUC is that it betrays
the militant anti-imperialist spirit that pervaded the coun-
trywide boycott-Simon-commission movement, and that
the Indian National Congress was departing from its goal
of complete independence adopted at its Madras session. Ac-
cepting dominion status as our goal, and pledging loyalty
to the British king-emperor meant accepting the strangle-
hold of British capital over our economic resources and
political life which spelt backwardness and slave status for
our country. The committee’s report acquiesces in Indian
army remaining under British control. The WPP and the
AITUC condemn this as a gross betrayal of the anti-imperial-
ist traditions of the national movemént which protested
against the use of the Indian army agajnst the Chinese peo-
ple fighting for their freedom. C .

Both the WPP and the AITUC point out in their docu-
ments that the inscription of fundaméntal rights, adult suf.
frage etc. and responsible government for the people of Bri-
tish provinces as well as of the princely states, is of little
value because the committee’s report simultaneously accepts
the overlordship of the British imperialists and of their
underlings, the feudal princes and statutory landlords.
Even the fundamental rights as enumerated in the com-
mittee’s report are inadequate as they significantly ignore
the right to strike.

Both the documents refer to the communal question
which occupies a considerable part of the Nehru report
and comment that the basic solution of this lies in the
common struggle of the working class and the toiling peo-
ple against imperialism and feudalism as well as against
capitalist exploitation. At the same time, they welcomed
the redistribution of provinces on a linguistic basis and re-
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alignment of the princely states along the same lines after
the abolition of the rule of feudal princes.

Though both the documents cover more or less the same
ground in their critique of ‘“Nehru report” the AITUC draft,
which was probably made later, contains more precise for-
mulations. For instance, sharply repudiating specious argu-
ments of the Nehru committee that there was hardly any
difference between dominion status and independence, the
AITUC draft says: “India under dominion status will still
be subject of British financial, commercial and industrial
exploitation, to British military control and therefore (as
the report in fact admits by retaining the king as the nomi-
nal head) to British political control.”

The AITUC draft further assessed the poor performance
of the All Parties Conference and its report in the follow-
ing trenchant generalisation: “The All Parties Conference
has failed to carry out its function of leading the people ox
India in a mass movement towards freedom, has merelv
been the occasion for the reestablishment of unity among
the bourgeois parties, on the basis of a most timid and re-
actionary program” (emphasis added).

The AITUC draft puts forward the socialist republic as
the ultimate aim of the working class. At the same time the
AITUC critique rejects as “unsuitable” the All Parties Con-
ference’s report as a basis for a ‘“temporary agreement” be-
tween the political parties and the patriotic classes of India
for the achievement of a program of struggle for indepen-
dence and democracy.

The AITUC considers ‘“that the opportunity, provided by
the present political situation, for establishing a real popular
movement for independence, based on an agreed pro-
gram, should not be wasted. Instead, therefore, of the un-
representative and exclusively upperclass All Parties Con-
ference, the Trade Union Congress advocates that there
should be called together a really representative confe-
rence or constituent assembly of the people of the whole
country for the formulation and propaganda of popular
demands and of mass action. The program suggested above
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(in the statement “Labour and Swaraj”) would serve as a
basis for this.”

There is also an article by M. N. Roy published in Inpre-
cor!® which is not reproduced here.

M. N. Roy in his article entitled “The Indian Constitu-
tion” commented upon the principles of the swaraj consti-
tution set forth in the Nehru committee’s report. He had not
before him at the time the full text of the report but only
a “purport” of the same published in the London Times. He
also emphasises that a new phase has opened in the Indian
freedom struggle with the adoption of the independence re-
solution by the National Congress and with the country-
wide boycott-Simon-commission demonstrations, and points
out that the demand for responsible government under the
British crown by the parties of the Indian bourgeoisie was
in sharp contrast to the militant mood of the rising mass
movement in the country. He quotes British imperialist
press organ London Times and Calcutta Statesman which
appraise the document as admirable and reasonable. This is
because, he points out, the draft constitution, accepts domi-
nion status ‘“under British sovereignty” and assures full pro-
tection to British capital invested 'in India, which also
means the acceptance of British mphopoly of Indian trade
and the virtual acceptance of ‘“imperial preference”. De-
mands made in the draft constitution may represent a cer-
tain advance over the present position but even these de-
mands the British imperialists would not accept without a
mass struggle. He points out that even the leftwing petty-
bourgeois leaders are not supporting this treachery of the
Indian bourgeois leadership and call upon the revolutionary
petty-bourgeois trend to ally with rising workers’ and pea-
sants’ movement to fight that compromise in the struggle
for independence. There are certain inaccuracies in the
article. In the original subcommittee appointed, as stated in
the report, there were not ‘“four swarajists apart from
Motilal Nehru” but only two. Shuaib Qureshi and Subhas

19. Inprecor, Vol 8, No 64, 24 August 1928.



26 Documents of the History of the CPI

Chandra Bose were the two other swarajists. N. M. Joshi,
AITUC general secretary, was in the subcommittee but he
neither attended its meetings nor signed the report.

The critique is not so concrete and precise as that of the
AITUC and WPP Bengal and Roy’s characterisation of
Subhas Chandra Bose as representing the fascist wing of
the petty-bourgeoisie, is incorrect and irrelevant in the con-
text of this development.

True, the AITUC draft takes a positive note of the demand
for linguistic states put forward in the Nehru committee’s
report, but neither the WPP nor the leftwing of the AITUC
had at that time come to understand the significance of this
demand for a democratic solution of the communal pro-
blem. The AITUC draft, therefore, did not note the signi-
ficant fact that the parties of the national bourgeoisie were
basing their demand on the principle “of the wishes of the
people and the linguistic integrity of the region concerned?”
The Nehru commitee report applies these principles to the
question of separation of Sind from the then Bombay pre-
sidency by pointing out that 74 per cent of its population
which is muslim as well as a section of the hindu popula-
tion are in favour of such a separation. The cases of Balu-
chistan and North-West Frontier region which were
somewhat similarly situated, is well known. Being border
regions the British rulers discriminated against them for
their imperialist military strategic reasons, perforce to
counter the socalled bolshevik menace from the north,
and deprived them of even the meagre rights and conces-
sions which the other British provinces enjoyed at that
time. The Nehru committee’s report had demanded that
these regions must be treated on the same footing as the
rest of the provinces. This fact has also escaped the notice
of the AITUC draft though it had “also the same signifi-
cance” in the solution of the communal question as in the
case of Sind at that time.

In accordance with the resolution of the Jharia (ninth)
session of the AITUC (Document 12) a delegation headed
by its president M. Daud, attended the all-parties conven-
tion on the second day, when the Nehru committee’s re-
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port on the draft constitution came up for discussion. The
convention, which was the last act of the All Parties Con-
ference, was designed as a prestigious gathering represen-
ting the widest possible nonofficial public opinion to
adopt its draft constitution. Its official report mentions that
AITUC was invited, as the representative of labour, to send
50 delegates. CPI and WPP were invited, not as political
parties but as representing labour, to send 5 delegates each.
The UP Kisan Sabha and Bihar Kisan Sabha were also in-
vited. These latter were at that time small organisations
led by leftwing congressmen.

M. A. Jinnah, who at that time had already given up his
earlier nationalist stand, and the Muslim League, had not
cooperated with the All Parties Conference. It is on record
that some attempt was made to contact them. The Muslim
League was holding its conference at that time in Calcutta
and Jinnah was also present there. But the effort did not
bear any fruit.

When the second day’s session of the convention opened
the president announced that since certain amendments on
Indian princely states were not ready, the first part of the
draft would be taken up and called upon J. M. Sen Gupta to
move the resolution on dominion status. After the resolu-
tion was moved it was opposed by Srinivas Iyengar on be-
half of the Independence of India League and by M. Daud
on behalf of the AITUC.

Srinivas Iyengar read out a written statement on behalt
of the League saying that it cannot agree with the conven-
tion to prepare a swaraj constitution based on dominion
status as it goes against the mandate of the Madras session
of the National Congress which was to draft the constitu-
tion on the basis of complete independence. But the Inde-
pendence League will participate in the convention to
evolve a solution of the communal question. They claimed
their stand was the same as that of the resolution which
the AICC adopted at its Delhi session in November which
ran thus:

“This meeting of the AICC adheres to the decision of the
Madras congress declaring complete independence to be the
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goal of Indian people and is of the opinion that there can
be no true freedom till the British connectior is severed.
This committee accepts the recommendations of the Nehru
committee as agreed to by the Lucknow All Parties Con-
ference for the settlement of the communal difference. This
committee specially congratulates the Nehru committee
for their labours, patriotism and farsightedness, and, with-
out prejudice to the resolution of the Congress relating to
complete independence, is of the opinion that the recom-
mendations of the Nehru committee are great steps towards
political advance and without committing itself to every
detail generally approve of them.”

In short the leftwing congressmen were taking a dual
stand. They were generally supporting the efforts of the
All Parties Conference, while registering their dissent on
the question of dominion status. Among the signatories of
the statement were the following:

Srinivas Iyengar, Jawaharlal Nehru, Subhas Chandra
Bose, Kiran Sankar Roy, Sarat Chandra Bose, Satyamurthi,
Sambamurthy and Siva Prasad Gupta.

The AITUC president for the year, M. Daud in his brief
speech read out the full text of the resolution adopted at the
Jharia session of AITUC and stated that the AITUC dele-
gation would not take any further part in the convention
if the demands set forth in the resolution are not accepted.
It will be seen that the resolution generally follows the cri-
tique of the Nehru committee’s report made by the WPP,
Bengal, and by Spratt’s draft made for the AITUC subcom-
mittee.

The main defect of M. Daud’s intervention was that he
failed to demonstratively put the weight of the AITUC in
support of those who were striking out for complete inde-
pendence while demanding full democratic rights, and put-
ting forward an anti-imperialist antifeudal program.
Socialist republic ought to have been put forward as the
‘“ultimate” aim of labour as stated in Spratt’s draft. There
was, however, an interesting episode in the convention,
which served to emphasise the militant rejection by the



Introduction 29

working class and its organisation—the AITUC, of the
compromising stand of dominion status. After Daud had
finished his speech, Chandrika Prasad, an ex-president of
the AITUC, was called upon to speak. He began by saying
that the AITUC fully supports the Nehru committee’s re-
port. As soon as he said this members of the AITUC delega-
tion rose up in angry protest and shouted that he was not
representing the AITUC. The result was that Chandrika
Prasad had to conclude his speech with the admission that
he was expressing his own opinion.

Eight days later a massive demonstration of thirty thou-
sand workers carrying red flags, marched to the Congress
pandal which was in the vicinity of the convention pandal
and warned the congress leaders—‘“No Dominion Status—
Stand by Complete Independence!”

v

THE “ASSEMBLY LETTER” AND THE CONTROVERSY
Rounp IT

¢

We are reproducing here the full text of the socalled As-
sembly Letter (Document 13) which was published in the
Statesman of Calcutta on 18 August 1928 and in London
Times, in extract, on 26 of the same month. The British
government of India was responsible for leaking it out to
the press and made it known that the letter emanated from
M. N. Roy, though it was not signed and the text was head-
ed “To the CCs of the CPI & WPP”. Later it figured in the
proceedings of the autumn session of the Legislative As-
sembly on 10 September 1928, copies of which were laid on
the table. Further, in the Assembly J. F. Crerar,
the then home member, stated: “It is addressed in the outer
cover ‘to be delivered personally to Muzaffar Ahmad, 2/1,
European Asylum Lane, Calcutta.’ The words ‘to be deli-
vered personally to’ have been expunged and the cover
bears the postmark of Aden, the 16th May.” He was intro-
ducing the notorious ‘“Public Safety Bill” an arbitrary mea-
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sure calculated to deport British subjects without trial on
the mere suspicion that they were assisting the Indian com-
munist movement.

It is clear that the letter was in the hands of the govern-
ment long before it was published in the press and that it
never reached the person to whom it was addressed and
naturally provoked suspicion about its authenticity. This
is confirmed by the letter which Muzaffar Ahmad addres-
sed to the Statesman soon after the “Assembly Letter” was
made public for the first time in the columns of the paper.
In this he states: “In connection with the letter said to have
been written by Mr M. N. Roy tc the Communist Party
and Workers & Peasants Party of India and published in
your issue of 18 August, I am instructed that no letter in
any way resembling this has ever been received by the
parties named. I have also to inquire from what source
your correspondent at Delhi obtained the letter, and what
authority he had for giving it publicity. My committee
considers that it, in common with the other provincial
committees of the Workers and Peasants Party, and the
committee of the Communist Party alone can authorise
the publication of their private correspondence.”2°

The Statesman published the letter with a sarcastic title
“Red & Green” and mischievously added the comment: “We
have yet to learn that letters written by one of the king's
enemies with the avowed object of stirring up armed revo-
lution and civil strife are entitled to any privilege on the
ground that they are private correspondence.”

This was characteristic of the tone with which the Anglo-
Indian press in India and the British imperialist press in
London publicised the “Assembly Letter” in a propaganda
campaign demanding action against the militant working-
class and communist movement in India.

Soon after the letter was published by the Statesman in
India, the London Times, on 26 August, published extracts
from the “Assembly Letter” with the meaningful comment
that ‘“the recent publication of M. N. Roy’s letter to the

20. Meerut Record, D 148(6).
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communists in India has directed public attention to the
evil relation of the Indian labour movement with inter-
national bodies of similar character”. This is obviously call-
ing for repression of Indian workingclass organisations for
merely keeping in touch with international workingclass
bodies.

Meanwhile, S. V. Ghate issued a statement?! to the press
from Bombay on 25 August 1928 on behalf of the CPI con-
firming the stand taken by Muzaffar Ahmad. The state-
ment said in parts: “...the Roy letter is only an invention
of the imperialist press for creating an atmosphere favour-
able for the introduction of repressive legislations in the
form of Trades Disputes Bill and Public Safety Bill in the
country.”

On behalf of the WPP a similar statement?2 had been
issued about the same time which compared the alleged
“Roy Letter” to the notorious “Zinoviev Letter” which the
tory imperialists used in England to bring about the fall of
the labour government in 1924. This statement in part says:

“...the ‘fake Roy Letter’ [is] said to have been addressed
to the Workers and Peasants Party. The imperialist gov-
ernment, with the aid of the capitalistsi Indian and foreign,
wants to suppress the growing awakening amongst the
masses of India, as evidenced in the countrywide discon-
tent and unrest that has culminated in spontaneous strikes
all over the country. The cry, therefore, has gone forth that
the communists have been ruining the country, its indus-
tries and what not. But the peaceful methods adopted by
the Workers and Peasants Party in the country have not
given an opportunity to the government to bring into
action all its instruments of oppression on the workers’
front.

- “Thirsting for Communist Blood: While the Bengal
Chamber of Commerce has been clamouring for the oust-

ing of the foreign agitators, others of their class have been
thirsting for communists’ blood. The government, as if in

21. Meerut Record, P 549 (20).
22. Ibid, P 549 (19)—emphasis added.
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obedience to the wishes of these classes, has promised them
to bring its ‘oppressive’ bill at the next session of the im-
perialist legislature. Unfortunately for the government, the
Trades Disputes Bill has had a hostile reception by the

nationalist press.

“Strangle TU Movement: The Workers and Peasants
Party believes that this letter is an invention of the capi-
talist press to make a strong case for the introduction of
the Trades Disputes Bill, to once and for all put an end to
the only legitimate method of strike.”

In the beginning of September the publication of the
‘“Assembly Letter” and the controversy round it attracted
the attention of Jawaharlal Nehru. In an interview?: to the
Free Press of India, on 1 September he said:

“When this letter was published in press I could not, of
course, say whether it was genuine or not. I do not know
what Mr Roy’s views may be in regard to communist work
in India. It struck me peculiar, however, that this letter
which is said to be dated some time in December last
should suddenly be given publicity 8 months later. On the
face of it the letter contains statements which appeared
improbable. The manner and time of publication increased
the element of suspicion. The Trade Disputes Bill and the
socalled anti-bolshevik measure coming at about the same
time made it clear that the publication was designed to
frighten a number of people and thus facilitate the passing
of measures. The cablegram I received from Berlin2¢ stat-
ing that after inquiry it has been found that the letter is a
fabrication, justifies the suspicion that it raised. I trust that
no one will be deluded by this letter, whether it is genuine
or not.

“The two new measures introduced by government are
objectionable and should be opposed. The trade-union

23. 1Ibid, D 148(5), emphasis added.

24, Ibid: Lucknow, 1 September (FPI): “Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru has
received a cable from the League against Imperialism in Brussels which
says that the alleged M. N. Roy’s letter recently published is an absolute

fabrication.”
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movement in India is very young and the Trades Dispute
Bill endeavours to weaken and cripple it in its infancy. This
cannot be willingly permitted. I am glad to say the Cong-
ress working committee today has expressed strong opinion
against both these measures.”

About the same time, that is on 29 August, M. N. Roy
himself sent a letter from Moscow repudiating the letter
ascribed to him which was published in the Bombay
Chronicle on 15 September 1928 under the heading:
“M. N. Roy’s Challenge to Government: Produce the Origi-
nal Letter—Reference to Jawaharlal a ‘Downright Lie’.”’2®

“Sir,—Some days ago the Times correspondent from
Delhi cabled what was purported to be extracts from a
letter written by me to the central committees of the Com-
munist Party and Workers & Peasants Party of India.
According to the report, this letter, alleged to be written
by me, was dated some time in December last year, but
made public by the police only a few days ago. In a. sub-
sequent message to the Times dated 28 /August, it is stated
that in this fictitious letter I mentioned Jawaharlal Nehru
‘as liaison agent between Moscow and'’India’.

“I hereby declare that I did not ad@ﬁfess any such letter
to anybody in India. The statement about my referring to
Mr Nehru ‘as liaison agent’ is a downfright lie. I challenge
the government of India to produce the original of this
mysterious letter with my signature.

“Obviously this latest ‘letter of Roy’ has been invented
as a pretext for the proposed legislation against the com-
munists. A cable to the Times dated Simla, 24 August, gives.
a purport of the Public Safety (Removal from India) Bill,
and says: ‘The recent publication of M. N. Roy’s letter o
the communists in India has directed public attention to
this evil relation of the Indian labour movement with
international bodies of similar character.’ If this letter
proves the necessity for new repressive legislation, why

25, Ibid, P 1887.
rHD—3
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has the government been sitting tight on it all this time

since December?
“Hoping that the elected nationalist members of the

Assembly will throw out this repressive measure.—yours,
ete. M. N. Rov.”

E ] a*x *

As has been mentioned earlier, the “Roy Letter” figured
in the autumn session of the Legislative Assembly on 10
September when the home member J. F. Crerar used it as
a support when he was introducing “The Public Safety
(Removal from India) Bill” which would enable the then
British government of India to deport any British European
subject on the mere act of helping communist and trade-
union activities in India. The “Roy Letter” was placed on
the table of the library of the Assembly and thereafter be-
came known as the ‘“Assembly Letter” together with an
alleged manifesto of the CPI which was an exhibit in the
Kanpur bolshevik conspiracy case of 1924.

As soon as Crerar rose to move the Public Safety Bill
and before he could begin his speech Pandit Motilal Nehru
raised a point of order stating that the Legislative Assem-
bly, being subordinate to the British parliament, had no
power to pass law restricting the rights of a European
British citizen residing in India. Such a citizen derived
those rights from the Magna Carta and other historic enact-
ments of the British parliament and the Indian legislature
has no power to make a law restricting these rights. There-
fore, the Assembly, Motilal Nehru argued, had no power 1o
enact a law restricting his rights to freely reside in any
part of the British empire including India which the bill
sought to do.

The bold argument Motilal Nehru put forward in defend-
ing his point of order and the numerous authorities he
quoted from British legal literatures put the government
and its law member, S. R. Das, in confusion. They pleaded
that they had no notice of this point of order and wanted
time. Das tried to argue that the president had no power
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to rule out an official bill ultra vires, at least, he urgued,
there was no precedent of that kind in any of the domi-

nions.

In the course of the short discussion that took place, even
a loyalist nonofficial member like Sir H. S. Gaur had to
admit quoting precedence that the Legislative Assembly
was not competent to pass such a legislation and conceded
that the president had the right to declare a bill ultra vires.

It was at this point that the president, Vithalbhai Patel
intervened and said that the point of order raised by
Motilal Nehru was very important and he could not give
his ruling immediately and he wanted more time for con-
sideration. But, as he did not want to hold up the proceed-
ings he allowed the home member to move the bill and also
allowed the debate thereupon to proceed.

Moving the bill Crerar indulged in a demagogic attack
on the communist movement of India as destructive of the
whole social fabric of the country as it exists today. In an
attempt to drive a wedge between the national movement
and the communist activities, he madé a pointed reference
to the massive workingclass strikes taking place at the time
in the industrial centres and on the railwmays. In an oblique
reference to the international solidarity and assistance
which the Indian working class was receiving from the
international workingclass movement, he hinted at the
“hand of Moscow” and of the “Communist International”
without naming them. In fact in his anticommunist tirade
he was anticipating the notorious opening speech of the
prosecution counsel Langford James in the Meerut conspi-
racy case which was to come six months later. He also
quoted a manifesto of the CPI, which he alleged was an
exhibit in the Kanpur bolshevik conspiracy case of 192478
He also read out extracts from the “Assembly Letter”.

There are two references in Crerar’s speech which need

26. We have not been able to locate this document from the list of
exhibits in the Kanpur bolshevik conspiracy case and identify the quota-
tion.—G.A4.
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to be commented upon in order to know the specific object
of the bill at the time. He refers firstly to George Allison
alias Donald Campbell and says: “It was he who first started
the formation of workers and peasants parties in active
form.” This is not historically quite accurate. As we have
already pointed out in the earlier volumes that this idea
was first put forward by M. Singaravelu and S. A. Dange
who were thinking of forming a Labour XKisan Party to-
wards the end of 1923. In the Kanpur conspiracy case (1924)
Dange and others were charged of trying to organise a
workers and peasants party. At the end of 1925 a Labour
Swaraj Party was formed in Calcutta which was renamed
later as the Peasants and Workers Party of which Muza-
ffar Ahmad and Qazi Nazrul Islam were the founders to-
gether with others. George Allison (Donald Campbell)
came to India in the beginning of 1926 and was in Calcutta
towards the end of the year and was in contact with Muza-
ffar Ahmad and other labour leaders. He would have
surely approved of forming the Workers and Peasants
Party to politically guide the work of the militants in the
trade-union movement. But the Indian communists, as we
have pointed out in earlier volumes, were already groping
forward towards this idea and attempting to give it a prac-
tical shape even before Allison came to India. It will be
remembered that Allison was a wellknown British com-
munist and a popular leader of the miners. We have also
seen that he had come to India with a passport under the
name of Donald Campbell. He had to do this in order to foil
the illegal efforts of the government authorities in Britain
to prevent him from getting a visa for India on his passport.
But the Scotland Yard in Britain and the British police
authorities in India through their “intelligence” service
found this out and seized his Passport in Calcutta and
arrested him for using a false passport. This was at the end
of 1926. He was brought to Bombay and put on trial for
the above mentioned offence and sentenced to 18 months’
rigorous imprisonment. He did most of his jail term in
Yervada Prison in Poona.

The jail term was to be over some time in June 1928 after
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which he could have remained in India as a free citizen
keeping in touch with Indian communists and members of
the Workers and Peasants Party and helping in their
trade-union activities. There was no law in the Indian
statute book which could enable the British police authori-
ties to restrict his right to do this in any way. So, the British
authority resorted to a stratagem. A couple of days before
the date of his release they took him out of jail in Poona
and brought him to Bombay under police custody and put
him on a P&O liner in the Bombay Port which was to
sail for England on that day. They released him on the
steamer just when it was about to set sail it and the police
got off the ship. Thus it was made impossible for George
Allison to remain in India after his release.

In his speech Crerar also refers to “Other British com-
munists—in fact two others”—who “came and whose
[communist] activities have been continuously carried on
for the last year and a half to the very great detriment, as
I believe, of the country.”

This refers to Philip Spratt who came ito India in Decem-
ber 1926 and to Ben Bradley who cam& ater in September
1927. Both these comrades came withitheir legal passports
and were openly in touch with Indi&n‘ communists and
leaders of Workers and Peasants Party ‘and helped them
in their trade-union and other political activities.

The Public Safety (Removal from India) Bill, which
Crerar was moving for the purpose of removing Spratt
and Bradley from India by a legislation, was, as Motilal
Nehru pointed out, bad in law as it violated the wvarious
historic enactments of the British parliament.

‘When Crerar in the course of his speech began quoting
from the “Assembly Letter”, Ranga Iyer interrupted say-
ing that the authenticity of the letter is being denied by
the alleged author. Crerar, answering the intervention,
stated: “I saw in a Reuter’s telegram a statement—whether
correct or not I cannot vouch for—that the British Com-
munist Party had addressed a reproach to Mr M. N. Roy
to the effect that he had given ground to government to
take action by the introduction of compromising matter cf
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this kind. The answer which the Communist Party is alleg-
ed to have received is that the letter was not written hy
M. N. Roy.”**

This is an interesting fact. It may be that the CPGB,
when it saw the extracts of the “Assembly Letter” in the
London Times of 26 August, taking it as genuine, might
have addressed a letter to Roy criticising him for allowing
such a document to fall in the hands of the imperialists.

These facts contained in a Reuter message, quoted by
Crerar, cannot be taken as a proof of the authenticity of the
letter which will be discussed later.

In the course of the debate, Amarnath Dutt quotes an-
other Reuter dispatch of 4 September stating:

“Reuter learns that Mr M. N. Roy has informed the Lon-
don branch of the Indian National Congress that he did not
write the letter mentioned in the message of 1st September.”

Amarnath Dutt also quoted at length from Jawaharlal
Nehru’s statement and condemned it as a forgery like the
notorious ‘“Zinovief” letter which he said was a devise
resorted to by the imperialists when they want to bring
forward repressive measures against popular movements.

Another swarajist member, Ranga Iyer, casting doubt on
the authenticity of the letter, argued that the document
whether fake or genuine was brought in here by the autho-
rities to support a thoroughly illegal measure to deport
men like Spratt. If the “Assembly Letter” was a seditious
document why no action was taken against a paper like
Statesman which printed it, he asked. Turning sarcastically
to the home member he said: “Must those, I ask, who do
not sing that old song of ‘Rule Britannia’ be deported? Mr
Spratt, sir, is as honourable a gentleman as I could find on
the opposition benches... I know he is a pleasant man to
talk to and if he is such a dangerous character, is not the
law strong enough to proceed against Mr Spratt? That is
the man they want to catch. They want to deport him with-
out delay. That accounts for the anxiety of honourable the

27. Assembly report, 10 September 1928, Proceedings, p 447.
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home member. They want to deport him just as they de-
ported another gentleman, an Englishman, from Bombay.”

As for the bill, it was ruled ultra vires by the presi-
dent, Vithalbhai Patel, after the debate was over on 24
September 1928. Thus it could not be used for deporting
Spratt and Bradley.

Here it is necessary to briefly sum up the further history
of this bill. When the bill came up again as amended by the
official select committee, the voting on the motion was 61
for and 61 against. The president, V. J. Patel, cast his cast-
ing vote against the motion and the bill was rejected.2® It
was reintroduced in April 1929 when already the Meerut
conspiracy case against 31 communists and trade-unionists
had started. As Ben Bradley later said in the statement
before the Meerut court:?* “The president of Legislative
Assembly refused to allow a debate on it, on the grounds
that such a debate would adversely affect this trial. How-
ever, the government were not going to be so easily baulk-
ed a second time. They were determined to make this law
at all cost. It was, therefore, certified byt the viceroy by
an ordinance.” Bradley also stated that mysterious docu-
ments were unearthed in support of the bill, obviously
referring to the “Roy Letter” which ﬁgured also in the
Meerut conspiracy case.

As soon as the ‘“Roy Letter” was iritercepted by the
police at the end of May and opened and read its content,
they began their investigation recognising its importance.
The envelope which was addressed to. Muzaffar Ahmad
bore in the corner the inscription “To be delivered per-
sonally”?® which was scratched out. On the back of the
envelope was the name of Abdul Hakim with his Calcutta
address. Attempting to trace him at that address the police
came to know that Abdul Hakim, who lived there, was a
seaman-khalasi working on foreign bound ships starting
from Calcutta Port and was at the time on the high seas.

28. India in 1928-1929, pp 6 and 7.
29. Bradley’s Statement, p 644.
30. Meerut Record, P 377(E).
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So, they alerted the police authorities of the ports of
Calcutta and Bombay to detain and search Abdul Hakim
whenever returned. According to the police report later sub-
mitted in the Meerut conspiracy case, Abdul Hakim return-
ed to the Bombay Port on 10 September 1928 and was de-
tained and searched. The search list and the evidence was
recorded before a presidency magistrate of Bombay. The
information so obtained was later produced in the Meerut
conspiracy case by making Abdul Hakim a prosecution
witness. He admitted that he had posted the abovemen-
tioned envelope at Aden on 16 May 1928. Further confirma-
tory evidence was found in his trunk. There was a small
cover addressed to Muzaffar Ahmad which contained the
following letter dated 8 February 1928 signed by N. ..
Upadhyaya, secretary-organiser of the Indian Seamen’s
Union, 88 East India Dock Road, London E 14¢1:

“Just a few lines to introduce Mr Md Abdul Hakim of
6, Shah Aman Lane, Calcutta.

“He has shown great care about the welfare of the Indian
workers and I hope you will find the conversation very
interesting; also we would very much like to know your
opinion about this comrade.

“Please find a letter from CPD [Clemens Palme Dutt] and
Teply.”

This letter became a prosecution exhibit in the Meerut
conspiracy case and the story of this and the other letters
was related in the evidence of Abdul Hakim as prosecution
witness who was also crossexamined on behalf of the
accused.

The story may be briefly told as summed up by the ses-
sions judge in his judgement.32

I. “PW 28 M. A. Hakim is a seaman who has been working
as a cabin steward in steamers of the British India Steam
Navigation Company for 9 or 10 years. In November 1927

31. Ibid, P 378. This was found in the possession of Abdul Hakim,
PW 28-—Dy Inspector Chowdhury, PW 262, searched Hakim—search list,
ibid, P 1596.

32. Meerut Case Judgement by Sessions Judge, Vol 1, p 182,
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he signed on as a cabin steward in the S.S. Merkara of that
line and arrived at London after Christmas. At the docks
there he met a Mr Upadhyaya whom he described as the
secretary of the Indian Seamen’s Union, London, who per-
suaded him to join the union and gave him a card of mem-
bership (P 376) which he signed in the witness’s presence.
After visits to various other ports the Merkara returned to
London on 7 or 8 February when the witness met Upa-
dhyaya again and was entertained by him at a teashop on
two occasions. On the second of these Upadhyaya gave the
witness two envelopes, a large one (P 377 E), and a small one
(P 378 E). He was asked to take these to Muzaffar Ahmad
at 2/1, European Asylum Lane, Calcutta, and to deliver the
small one to him first and then the large one if he asked for
it. Witness took the letters back to his ship and put them in
a writing pad inside his box. When, however, he reached Cal-
cutta about 20 March he forgot to deliver these letters and
left them lying in his box. A little over a month later he
signed on in the S.S. Margha for a voyage to Southampton
and after leaving Colombo came cross the letters still in the
writing pad. He then thought the best thing to do was to
post the big envelope to Muzaffar Ahinad and accordingly
took it to the purser who told him tao a}cratch out the words
“to be personally delivered”. He alsa wrote on the back of
the envelope his own name and Calgutta address, a very
usual practice among Indians writing letters in India. The
letter was then posted in the box on the ship and des-
patched to India from Aden.

II. “Abdul Hakim returned from England in the troop-
ship Nivasa on 10 September 1928, his box was searched by
customs and police officers and the letter (P 378) was found
in his possession. That letter bears the same signature N. J.
Upadhyaya which appears on the Indian Seamen’s Union
membership card given by N. J. Upadhyaya to Abdul
Hakim at the docks in London. This letter would establish,
even if it were not already established by the typewriting,
that (P 377) signed ‘J’ emanated from C. P. Dutt.”

During the Meerut case trial the communists continued to
repudiate the authenticity of the letter as they were doing
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earlier before their arrest, when the letter was first seen
in the press.

When Abdul Hakim was put up by the prosecution to
prove the authenticity of the letter he was closely cross-
examined on behalf of the communist accused. The witness
was asked whether he was sure that the alleged “Roy Let-
ter” now produced by the prosecution and identified by
him was actually in the cover which was given to him by
Upadhyaya and which he posted at Aden. His answer re-
vealed that he was not sure about it. This answer elicited
from the witness was used by the accused to suggest that
the evidence of this witness did not prove the authenticity
of the letter and that a forged letter might have been re-
placed in the cover by the police in the long period during
which it was in their hands.

Thus Muzaffar Ahmad in his defence statement in the
Meerut Case states the following about the ‘“Roy Letter’:"3

“I cannot see how I could in any way be made responsible
for the exhibit P 377, the famous ‘Assembly Letter’. The
alleged writer of the letter M. N. Roy himself disclaimed it
through the press. The PW 28, Abdul Hakim, who was al-
leged to have been entrusted with the letter in London to
have it delivered to me personally did arrive in Calcutta,
was discharged from the ship and stayed there for 2 months
and yet he did not care to deliver the letter to me though
I could be found quite easily. My place was well known to
workers and seafarers. Abdul Hakim was not a man who
might be entrusted with hundreds of commissions in Lon-
don. If this single piece of work was at all entrusted to
him nobody can believe that he could forget to deliver
it to me. If the letter was posted at Aden I do not
know why it was not passed to me after being photographed
as is usually done by the CID. The whole letter is a faked
one. It was meant to justify the introduction of the Public
Safety Bill in the Legislative Assembly of India which
was apparently meant to drive away comrades Spratt and
Bradley from India.”

33. Statement of Muzaffar Ahmad, p 495.
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S. V. Ghate in his defence statement also denounced it as
a forgery.34 “In connection with this letter I have to state
that if the party called this letter a forgery there
were good reasons for it. The nefarious tactics of the conser-
vative party in England, which plotted the downfall of first
labour government of England in 1924 by the now notori-
ous ‘Zinovieff Letter’ forgery, were too fresh to be forgot-
ten.

“The year 1928 saw a rising tide of strikes all over the
country and in order to frighten the bourgeoisie and win
them over completely to their side, this letter was given
wide publicity and was discussed in the Assembly. This
party took the only course it could at that time, of denounc-
ing it as a forgery.”

So far we have traced the history of this “Roy Letter”
in the three stages it passed through, firstly, when it first
came before the public through the columns of the States-
man on 18 August 1928 and in London Times a few days
later, secondly, when it figured in the Legislative Assembly,
and thirdly, when it appeared as a ;prosecution exhibit
against the communists in the Meerat conspiracy case. In
all these stages doubt was cast on the authenticity of this
document not only by Muzaffar Ahm:ad to whom it was
addressed but also later by its alleged author M. N. Roy as
also by S. V. Ghate on behalf of the GPI and WPP.

It was during the Meerut conspiracy case that Muzaffar
Ahmad, Ghate, Spratt and Bradley and other communists
got the opportunity of carefully examining the letter, its
cover and the covering letters connected with it. They also
carefully evaluated the evidence given by the seaman
Abdul Hakim before the sessions court, whom they care-
fully crossexamined. Assessing all these facts, that is the
manner in which it was originally proposed to be sent and
as well as by the contents of the same, the communists in
the Meerut case had no doubt as to its authenticity. They
took the only course possible for them at the time, both
when they were free and later when they were prisoners,

34. Statement of S. V. Ghate, p 1586.
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of repudiating it in view of the conditions of repression
prevailing at that time.

They knew that N. J. Upadhyaya was a communist, a
member of the CPGB, who was active in organising Indian
seamen who worked in the boats plying between India
and England. There was an Indian Seamen’s Union in Lon-
don of which N. J. Upadhyaya was the secretary. This
union was looking after the welfare of the seamen while
they were in London during their voyages. The confidential
correspondence between Indian communists in Europe in
touch with the CI and the CPI was in early years carried
through a seaman who was also a committed communist.
This was Ajodhya Prasad, who was later arrested in the
Meerut conspiracy case and is a signatory to the general
policy statement of the communist prisoners. It is on record
that Ajodhya Prasad registered himself as a seaman-khalasi
in the beginning of 1927 under the name of Abdul Hamid.
He made several trips in steam boats plying between Cal-
cutta and Bombay and ports in France and England. The
technical arrangements for the exchange of correspondence
and other materials between Indian communist leaders
abroad, particularly the members of the foreign bureau of
the CPI in Europe, and Communist Party leaders in Bom-
bay and Calcutta, was functioning through ‘Abdul Hamid’.
At the French end Ajodhya Prasad was contacting the
technical arrangement made by the foreign bureau which
was operated by Mohammed Ali ‘Sepassi’.

This arrangement seems to have functioned during the
whole year of 1927 and the early months of 1928. At the
time when this link was functioning the police had abso-
lutely no knowledge of it. It was probably in the early
months of 1928 that the police intelligence department who
knew Ajodhya Prasad as a communist since 1926, came to
know that he was identical with ‘Abdul Hamid’ the seaman-
khalasi. Thereafter they traced from the shipping records
both in Calcutta and Bombay that the successive trips
which ‘Abdul Hamid’ made to ports in France and back.
They suspected that he was operating the correspondence
link and also bringing copies of the Masses from the French



Introduction 45

ports. But they never got any direct evidence of this. They
only surmised it through references in certain correspon-
dence which was found with Spratt when he was arrested
in September 1927 in the ‘India and China’ case. The refe-
rences were in cryptic style such a “god’s messenger”,
“boy has come back with messages and copies of the Mas-
ses, etc.” Our purpose in referring to all these things here
is to find out why the Roy Letter was not sent through this
reliably functioning arrangement. The trips which Abdul
Hamid made came to the knowledge of the police later from
the abovementioned references in intercepted letters and
from shipping records which also revealed to the police
that ‘Abdul Hamid’ was actually Ajodhya Prasad. From
these records, we know that ‘Abdul Hamid’ left the S.S.
Elysia on 25 September 1927 and was in France for some
months. Normally, he should have rejoined the ship when
it sailed again from Marsailles on 7 January 1928. The pro-
secution further alleged that ‘Abdul Hamid’ went to the
British consul in Marsailles reporting that he was left be-
hind and requested to be sent back to India. However, there
was a considerable delay on behalf of #the authority to re-
patriate him which was done only on' 2 March 1928. This de-
lay is explained by the judge by saying that the permission
for his repatriation had to be obtamed from the Board of
Trade in England.

We may surmise that he was detained in France by the
foreign bureau apparatus because they were expecting at
that time an important communication from M. N. Roy
who, they must have known, had returned from China by
that time.?5 Actually that communication was inordinately
delayed and could not be available up to the time when S.S.
Elysia sailed from Marsailles on 7 January 1928. Thereafter,
the foreign bureau apparatus must have asked him to re-
port himself to the British consul in France and get repatri-

35. Man Who Looks Forward by A. K. Hindi (Tyab Sheikh)—puo-
lished in India in 1937, which is obviously based on account given by

M. N. Roy himself, says that Roy returned from China in Septem-
ber, p 103.
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ated. It appears that the “said important communication
dated 30 December 1927, could only be available through
Clemens Dutt, who must have reached after Abdul Hamid

reported to the British consul.

It appears that when it arrived the communication appa-
ratus must have found that Abdul Hamid had already re-
ported to the British consul and it was not at all safe to
send the letter through him. Under these conditions, it ap-
pears, that Clemens Dutt carried the letter to London with
him to find out another reliable person to send it safely
to Muzaffar Ahmad. In London, Clemens Dutt appears to
have contacted N. J. Upadhyaya, who as we have stated
earlier was a communist, a member of the CPGB and work-
ing among the Indian seamen. Upadhyaya seems to have
promised Clemens Dutt that he could send the Iletter
through a reliable seaman to India to be personally handed
over to Muzaffar Ahmad. Upadhyaya not being well versed
in methods of underground communication selected a
seaman who was a literate and loyal unionist all right but
had no political understanding whatsoever of the reason
why the letter was sent by hand. He was also carrying
other private letters of his colleagues and friends which
were found in his box when he was searched on 10 Septem-
ber 1928 at Bombay. It was wrong on the part of Upadhyaya
to send such a letter through seaman, Abdul Hakim, who
was not politically conscious and did not understand, in this
case, the importance of his mission. That is why he forgot
to deliver the letter personally to Muzaffar Ahmad when
he arrived in Calcutta and later on his next trip abroad pos-
ted it at Aden. All this account is based, as we stated earlier,
on the evidence Abdul Hakim gave in the sessions court of
Meerut conspiracy case. But there is an independent evi-
dence to confirm that the alleged “Roy Letter” was sent
through a seaman and was believed to be authentic by no
less a person than Muzaffar Ahmad.

In 1963 Muzaffar Ahmad wrote a small Bengali book en-
titled Samakaler Katha (Contemporary Events). In this
there is a chapter entitled “history of Two Letters” (“Dui



Introduction 47

Khana Chithir Itihas”). The first letter he deals with is this
“Roy Letter” and the tenor of the whole writing shows the
reader that he believes it to be authentic. The opening
paragraph3® dealing with this letter runs as follows:

“A letter dated 30 December 1927 was written to the cen-
tral committee of the Commmunist Party of India from Europe.
This was a voluminous letter. Those who were to despatch
the letter did not want to send it by post, as, if sent by post,
there was every chance of the same being intercepted by
the police. So the letter was sent to London so that it could
be sent by hand and actually a good arrangement could be
made there. A sailor from Calcutta agreed to deliver the
letter to me at Calcutta. The name of the sailor was Abdul
Hakim.”

The last paragraph of this account brings out an addi-
tional fact that the despatcher sent the letter through an
Indian seaman. It reads as follows:

“We did not have the least inkling that a wvoluminous
letter had been sent to us through a sailor which
ultimately fell into the hands of the palice. London com-
rades were anxious to know the fate of the letter. Once
they wrote to me ‘perhaps you know‘aéseaman who often
comes here’. I did not understand anything. I used to know
many such seamen. Centering round the letter the Britisn
government of India moved a draft HLill in the Central
Legislative Assembly of India. The bill was styled as ‘Pub-
lic Safely Bill’.”s7

A new fact revealed here for the first time by Muzaffar
Ahmad that he received a query from those who despatched
the letter from London (through Abdul Hakim) saying
“perhaps you know a seaman who often comes here”. This
query is an independent confirmation that this “Roy Letter”
was sent through a seaman, evidently Abdul Hakim.

In an earlier publication entitled The Communist Party
of India and its Formation Abroad published first in Ben-
gali in September 1961 and its English edition in April 1962,

36. Samakaler Katha, p 42.
37. T7Tbid, p 44.
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Muzaffar Ahmad refers to the “Assembly Letter” as an auth-
entic communication, written by M. N. Roy from the head-
quarters of the Communist International after his return
from China. He writes: “On 30 December 1927, M. N. Roy
wrote a letter to the central committee of the Communist
Party of India from the headquarters of the Communist
International (this letter also mentioned the central com-
mittee of the Workers and Peasants  Party). Roy had
shown this letter to other leaders of the Communist Inter-
national before it was sent. This happened after he had
returned from his visit to China. In those days this letter
became famous in India as the ‘Assembly Letter’. It was
exhibit P 377 (1) among the documents filed in the Meerut
communist conspiracy case.”’ss

Muzaffar Ahmad then quotes from this letter in support
of his argument that the Communist Party of India was
affiliated to the Communist International already in the
years 1920 and 1921 and that this affiliation held valid when
it was written at the end of 1927.

Later in his book Muyself and the Communist Party of
India, 1920-1929 (published in March 1970) he has again
referred to the question of affiliation of the party with the
CI quoting once more from the “Roy Letter”.

All this fully confirms that Muzaffar Ahmad considered
this letter to be authentic, both with reference to its mode
of despatch from London through the seaman Abdul Hakim
and in regard to its content. However, it is significant that
he nowhere refers in these three books that he himself, to-
gether with other concerned leaders, had cast doubt upon
the authenticity of the letter both when it was first publish-
ed in the Statesman and later appeared as a prosecution
exhibit in the Meerut conspiracy case. This was probably
because he was so convinced of the authenticity of the
“Roy Letter” in terms of its content.

The prosecution proved the authenticity of the letter and
of the covering letter by C. P. Dutt’® by comparing the type

38. The CPI and its Formation Abroad, p 83.
39. Meerut Record, P 377 and P 377 (1).
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face with that of other documents emanating from the
same typewriter which have been otherwise proved. The
“Roy Letter” itself was not signed by M. N. Roy but its
authorship is proved by the nature of the contents and of
the arguments therein and particularly by the personal
reference in the opening paragraph.

The reference to the author of the letter being away, and
that in his absence his correspondence was being handled
by other comrades, can be interpreted as referring to M. N.
Roy who was away in China in the second half of 1927,
during which time we have on record some letters of
Clemens Dutt addressed to comrades in India dealing with
important issues dealt with in the letter. For instance, a
reference to matters ‘“of serious political nature” which
demanded ‘“consideration and consultation with other
comrades” appears to be a reference to the question of the
relation of CPI with WPP. This question is discussed in
detail in the “Roy Letter”. This also figures in some of the
letters of Clemens Dutt to Spratt written during the same
period. These letters were intercepted by the police and pro-
duced in the Meerut trial. In one such letter Clemens Dutt
comments that the Communist Party: and WPP appear
to be much the same. This is exactly: the complaint made
in the “Roy Letter” where he writes that WPP “is too openly
identified with the CP”. This internal evidence was also
used by the prosecution and by the sessions judge to prove
the authenticity of the “Roy Letter”.

Coming now to the text of the letter we find that in the
first para the writer is referring to the fact that he was
away from his headquarters for some time, that in his
absence the correspondence was handled by other com-
rades and that he took considerable time to study the
materials received in his absence and to give a considered
reply to the problems raised.

It is known from independent sources that M. N. Roy
was in China from February to September 1927 and that in
his absence Clemens Dutt was conducting the correspond-
ence. It is also known to us that by the time Roy returned

PHD-4
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ke and others had before them the annual report of the CPI
published in June 1927. The workers and peasants parties
in Bombay and Bengal had come into existence and had
begun mass activities in trade-union and other fields. The
reference here to questions requiring ‘“mature considera-
tion” is obviously the relations between CPI and the newly-
emerging workers and peasants parties. We will discuss
this question when we come to the reference to the same
in this “Roy Letter”.

The letter from Edward (ie, Muzaffar Ahmad) which
Roy refers to in the second and third paras seems to have
contained bitter criticism of M. N. Roy about the manner
in which he was discharging his responsibilities to the
party in India. Roy answers the criticism and explains how
he is rendering every possible help to build a workingclass
party in India. This letter of M. Ahmad is not found on
record probably because it was not intercepted and pro-
duced in the Meerut case. Muzaffar Ahmad has made even
sharper criticism about M. N. Roy in his book The Commu-
nist Party of India and its Formation Abroad where he says
that having been placed in a position of high responsibility
in the Communist International he could not maintain the
revolutionary dignity of his position due to his lack of inte-
grity which dragged him down.4°

In the same place Muzaffar Ahmad also refers to the
expulsion of M.N. Roy which, however, took place some
time later. But at the point of time when Roy wrote the
letter he was correctly emphasising the political necessity
of international solidarity on behalf of the world working
class on the one hand and the admirable selfreliance of the
Indian working class which was expressing itself in the con-
temporary militant strike struggle on the other.

He then proceeds to enumerate the three main political
topics which he proposes to enlarge upon in course of the
letter. The major part of the letter is devoted to the dis-
cussion of the existence of two parties, ie CPI and WPP, at

40. Op cit, p 154.
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that time, and their relations with each other. This was
natural because at the time of writing Roy had before him
not only the Annual Report of the Communist Party cf
India published in June 1927 and general information of
the beginning of mass activities among the working class
by the workers and peasants parties of Bengal and Bom-
bay, but also the discussion that was going on about the
organisational relation between CPI and WPP and their
future development.

In the latter part of 1927 it was becoming clear that for
the development of mass activities and to maintain its con-
tinuity it was necessary to function through an open orga-
nisation like the workers and peasants party. This was
clear from the earlier experience of Bengal and of Bombay
and Madras. While the first communist conference took
place in Kanpur in 1925 the plan to hold a second confer-
ence was abandoned and instead a businesslike meeting of
the extended central committee took plape in Bombay aft
the end of May 1927. In the annual repo!‘l: of the same pub-
lished in June 1927 the development and ?xtenswn of mass
activities in Bengal, Bombay and Madras have been
mentioned. However, there was no clarity at the time as
to the different political and organisational roles of these
two parties. This we see in the discussion that was going
and it is recorded in the contemporary documents. For in-
stance Clemens Dutt in a letter dated 25 July 1927 is recor-
ding the impression that the CPI and WPP are becoming
identical. In reply to this Spratt in his letter dated 4 Sep-
tember confirms this impression of Clemens and adds that
the idea of an organised communist party is absolutely not
understood and mentions that other comrades of Bombay
agree with him. However the communists at that time were
gradually realising that the Communist Party which was a
target of continuous repression would have to be organised
and functioned as a secret organisation while the open acti-
vities to form the class organisations of the peasants and
working class had to be carried through the workers and
peasants parties. But, the Communist Party having al-
ready emerged in the public as a revolutionary party of the
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working class it was necessary to fight for its legal exist-
ence as long as it was not actually banned. The meeting of
the CEC of the CPI held at the end of May 1927 was per-
haps the last meeting openly held and reported in the press.
This was not the case with similar meetings subsequently
held in December 1927 and December 1928 etc. before the
arrests in the Meerut conspiracy case. Roy, in this letter,
attributes to Muzaffar Ahmad, the statement that: ‘“the
accused in the Kanpur case were sentenced not as commu-
nists...but for making preparations to ‘wage war against
the king’”, and from this draws the conclusion that M.
Ahmad harboured the illusion that the CP can function
legally. This is not correct. We have not before us the actual
letter he wrote to Roy at that time but Muzaffar Ahmad
knew full well that the accused in the Kanpur case were
charged of organising a section or branch of CI in India
which is nothing but a communist party with the afore-
said revolutionary objective. This is implied in the petition
of complaint.4! He along with other communists had no
illusions about organising the Communist Party legally.

This background was necessary to properly understand
the setting in which Roy is precisely formulating the rela-
tions between the Communist Party and the workers and
peasants parties.

In the first place Roy, in this letter, refers to the break-
through which the Communist Party, in its early years
after 1925, was making through leading the struggles of
workers and peasants and building their militant class or-
ganisations. At the same time he stresses that the commun-
ist vanguard which unfolds these mass activities and creates
a broad mass base must itself be organised as a revolutionary
party of the working class. This, he pointed out, has to be
an organisation of revolutionaries which can develop and
grow as an underground mass party combining legal and
illegal activities and leading the mass base to higher and
higher militant actions.

41. See Documents, Vol 2, p 281.
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It will not be far wrong if we state that the communists
in India had arrived at the same conclusion already in the
latter part of 1927 even before the “Roy Letter” was written.

How far the Indian communists in those early years suc-
ceeded in building such a communist vanguard—illegally
functioning Communist Party with wide mass contact—is
a different question. But the main achievement of the years
1927 and 1928 was the coming into existence of the work-
ers and peasants parties more or less in the manner in
which Roy defines their activities and program in the letter.

Further, Roy attempts to give a concrete explanation of
a criticism made at the time that the Communist Party of
India and the Workers and Peasants Party were appear-
ing to be much the same, by stressing the much broader
character of the latter.

Having explained the difference between the WPP and
CPI in relation to their class composition he goes on to
further concretise their difference in respect of their poli-
tical and economic programs. Stressing the point that the
members of the CPI participate in the &nﬁadet organisation
of the WPP he points out that the proggram of the latter is
not a communist program which is one tof overthrowing
capitalism and going forward to socialistn. Describing in
detail the program of the Workers and iPeasants Party he
points out that it is one of carrying through the democratic
revolution, ie of achieving national independence and win-
ning for the workers and peasants their democratic rights
and liberties through nationalisation of public utilities,
through the abolition of landlordism and of the feudal prin-
cely states, ensuring land to the tiller and the reduction of
the burden of rent and debt. In this program he goes into
considerable details about the demands of the peasants
against the government, the landlords and the usurers as
well as into the demands of the workers against the capi-
talists, Indian and foreign. In this program of workers and
peasants he includes their democratic rights and the right to
organise, to strike and to form workers’ and peasants’ com-
mittees in the fight to get the program implemented.
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The open publication of the annual report of the CEC of
CPI held in May 1927, he points out, was a mistake as it
made public all the 15 names of the office-bearers. This, he
said, should now be corrected by holding a new conference
of the party secretly and electing a new CEC. Furthe:,
while noting that practically all the members of the CC
of the CPI are organisers and leaders of the WPP, he points
out that it should be so but it should not have been pub-
licised. He is probably referring to the fact that the names
of Muzaffar Ahmad. Abdul Halim and Soumyendranath
Tagore which appeared as members of the CEC in the an-
nual report of the CPI also figured as members of the exe-
cutive of the WPP Bengal in its annual report of 1927-1928.

Dealing with the concrete problems of organising the
WPP he warns against two mistakes: While avoiding the
mistake of making the WPP too narrow so as to be almost
identical with the CPI, he says we must also avoid the other
mistake of making the WPP so broad as to include such
members of the petty-bourgeoisie who are themselves land-
lords or linked with them. In this connection he refers to
Naresh Sen Gupta and Atul Sen (? probably Atul Gupta)
who, he says, are office-bearers of the WPP, but ought not
to have been there as such. He suggests that they are land-
lords and doubts whether they accept the WPP program.
We find these names mentioned in the annual report of the
WPP Bengal for 1927-1928 where the former has been men-
tioned as the president and the latter, that is Atul Gupta,
as the vice-president. (It is interesting to note that the same
names, ie Naresh Sen Gupta and Atul Gupta which appear-
ed in the “Roy Letter”, also appear in a letter dated 10 May
1928 by Muzaffar Ahmad in which he is answering a letter
of Clemens Dutt dated 26 January 1928. This means that
Clemens Dutt in his letter (which is not on record) seems
to have made the same criticism about these persons as in
the “Roy Letter”. It is interesting to note that Muzaffar
Ahmad in his reply to Clemens Dutt states that both of
them‘ are not landlords but are supporters of the peasants
in their struggles against landlord operations. He also said
that he had no knowledge of the suggestion of Sasmal
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being admitted in the party and says that he is a landlord
himself. Sasmal’s name appears in the “Roy Letter” where
he is characterised as a left nationalist leader. But, we
know that in another letter to Spratt dated 9 August 1927,
Clemens had suggested that the WPP should be a broad
organisation which would include left congressmen like
Sambamurthy and B. F. Bharucha. Reference to Sasmal in
Muzaffar Ahmad’s letter probably arises because he was
mentioned in that context in an earlier letter either by Roy
or Clemens. The “Roy Letter” mentioning Sasmal was not
known to him at that time.

We have referred to this point to show that the question
of the relation of the CPI and WPP and the urgent need tc
organise the latter as stated above was being discussed in
the correspondence in the latter part of 1927 and “Roy
Letter” is summing up the discussions with further con-
crete proposals. For instance, Roy proposes that the WPP
should have not only individual membership but mass
organisations like trade unions, peasants’, students’ and
youth organisations should also be affillated to it. Second-
ly, he suggests that it was high time toimake the WPP a
nationwide organisation by organising’ 'WPPs in other pro-
vinces and preparing for an all-India: qonference of these
parties in the course of the year. Thi#dly, for this confer-
ence, he suggests, the preparation of the following draft
documents, e.g. present political situation, program of the
party, tasks on the trade-union and peasant front, constitu-
tion and principles of the organisation of the party. Furthey,
the conference should elect a CC or a national executive
which would contain popular TU and peasant leaders and
members know for their sacrifices in the national revolu-
tionary movement. Fifthly, he suggests the All-India Work-
ers and Peasants Party thus formed to take the decision
to affiliate itself to World League against Imperialism and
National Oppression etc. formed in February 1927 at the
conference in Brussels and elect delegates to the next world
congress of the same.

42. Meerut Record, P 1008.
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The idea of developing the WPP as a mass political party
of the workers and peasants building their militant class
organisation and acting in the national-liberation move-
ment as a left wing strengthening the revolutionary trend
jn it was already being implemented in India even before
this letter was written or reached India. We have already
recorded that WPP members from Bombay and Bengal
acted effectively as a left wing in the Madras session of the
National Congress in December 1927. We have already
shown how the WPP of Bombay brought into action a
broad spectrum of trade unions in the boycott-Simon~-
commission movement. The idea that the WPP could have
individual membership as well as collective affiliation of
trade unions and peasants’ organisations was already being
implemented, as we see, in the constitution of WPP of
Bengal adopted at its Bhatpara conference in March 1928.
The preparations for making the WPP an all-India party
were already afoot. This was mentioned in the Bhatpara
conference mentioned above. Even before that conference
met the leading members of the WPPs of Bengal and Bom-
bay had met together to draft common resolutions for their
respective conferences. The subjects of these were the same
as suggested in the “Roy Letter”. All these we shall see in
detail in the next section.

Describing the role of the party press as the organiser of
the open political party of the working class like the Work-
ers and Peasants Party Roy refers to Ganavani which was
at that time coming out in Bengali as the organ of Peasants
and Workers Party (later named Workers and Peasants
Party) of Bengal. As stated in the annual report of the CPI,
Kranti Marathi weekly was coming out from Bombay as
the organ of the WPP of Bombay since May 1927. As stated
earlier Ganavani which started as a successor of Langal
from April 1927 continued up to October of the same year,
Mehnatkash (Worker) Urdu weekly edited by Abdul Majid
was coming out in the same year. The critical comments
made by Roy about the contents of Ganavani are not quite
relevant. Ganavani was not just a trade-union paper but a
political organ of the Workers and Peasants Party. This
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is made clear in the appeal for funds made by Muzaffar
Ahmad, its editor, in October 1927 after the publication of
its 31st issue. Here Ganavani is described as a semi-theore-
tical agitational organ enabling political workers, who are
conducting the economic struggles of the workers and pea-
sants, to organise the advanced amongst them in the politi-
cal party of the working class (WPP). It contained articles
explaining the programs of workers and peasants, articles
on peasant struggle and the urgent demands of the pea-
sants, role which the organised workers and peasants were
playing in the national freedom movement, e.g. boycott-
Simon-commission campaign and so on. The paper had to
cease publication at the end of October 1927 temporarily ani
began to reappear from June 1928 and continued right up
to March 1929 when the editor and other leaders of the
WPP were arrested in connection with the Meerut conspi-
racy case on 20 March 1929. The history of Kranti ran a simi-
lar course. Starting from 14 May 1927 it continued appearing
regularly up to November 1927. It was restarted in June
1928 when the great general textile strike of Bombay had
already begun. This new series of Kmfz, edited by S. A.

Dange, played a very important role in :the general strike
rallying the workers under the leadership of their “joint
general strike committee”—in their :mihtant struggle and
conducting political agitation among %them as well. The
issues of Mehnatkash have not been traced and the history
of this paper cannot be recorded. The idea of starting an
all-India organ of the party was also being discussed in the
later part of 1927, but could not be implemented even up to
the arrest of the leaders in the Meerut case. The Spark which
was started as a weekly edited by M. G. Desai in January
1929 from Bombay and which the prosecution suspected to be
the central organ was actually not so. It was an individual
venture by Desai himself though it carried articles on
political and workingclass questions in the national free-
dom movement by communists and Workers and Peasants
Party leaders.

43. Meerut Record, P 1010 & P 1Qii1—letters of S. S. Mirajkar and
S. V. Ghate.
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Coming to the question of international affiliation, ie cf
WPP to the League against Imperialism and of the CPI to
the Comintern, Roy makes certain assertions which need to
be examined. Firstly, he says that there is a confusion on
this question among the Indian communists. Secondly, he
suggests that the international contact of the CPI should
function not through London but through the apparatus of
the “foreign bureau” in Paris and Berlin. Thirdly, he criti-
cises Saklatvala and George Allison for allegedly suggest-
ing the WPP being affiliated to the Minority Movement in
England. Lastly, he explains the international significance
of CPI being affiliated to Communist International.

At the time of writing the letter we may assume that Roy
had before him detailed reports made by Saklatvala and
George Allison of their experiences and work in India sent
by them through CPGB or Clemens Dutt to the Comin-
tern. We assume this because he was a full member of ECCI
and as such all papers and reports sent to the CI were avail-
able to him. We have not seen those reports but from our
information about their work and discussions with Indian
comrades during their stay in India we can firmly assert
that neither of them could be accused of creating such con-
fusion about affiliation.

The annual report of the CPI giving the report, consti-
tution and the resolutions passed by the enlarged meeting
of the CEC of the CPI defines the position of the party on
the question of affiliation of the Comintern at that time
clearly enough. Though it does not say that the CPI is a
“section of the Comintern” for obvious reasons, it does
state in article 2 of the party constitution: “Member-
ship—only those subscribing to the program laid down by
the Communist International will be eligible for its mem-
bership.” In fact as “Roy Letter” states: “Up till now the
CI has acted upon the affiliation of the emigrant section of
the CP of India.” Muzaffar Ahmad quoted these lines from
the “Roy Letter” to prove that the emigre unit of the Com-
munist Party of India was affiliated to the CI and that ‘“it is
clear that the affiliation was then intact” (ie at the time of
writing the letter). This fact is confirmed by the official
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record of the fifth congress of the Communist International
held from 17 June to 8 July 1924. In Pyatnitsky’s report on
the organisational question we find a statistical table pre-
pared by the mandate commission showing the figures of
the membership and candidate membership of the affiliated
parties at the fourth and the fifth congresses. India figured
as no. 41 in the list of 46 parties, its membership is not
recorded as the party was ‘“illegal”. It is also recorded in the
same report that India was allowed “two delegates, with
decisive votes” and “10 mandates”. The delegates werza
M. N. Roy and Mohammed Ali Sepassi.®

“Roy Letter” had further suggested that at the next con-
ference of the CPI a decision should be taken on the affilia-
tion to CI and this resolution should be communicated to
the latter. It is on record that at the meeting of the central
committee held at the end of 1928 in Calcutta such a deci-
sion was actually taken.** At the same time the meeting de-
cided to make the Communist Party active and start propa-
ganda in the name of the CPI. “Our legal position should
be upheld. Organising and propagating as a Communist
Party.”#s This meant fight for the " legal existence of the
party and at the same time preparihg?to function it under-
ground in the face of repression. Implementing this deci-
sion, a new draft constitution of the party was prepared
in the early months of 1929. This draft constitution which is
on record defines the party in its first and second articles
as follows: 48

“Article 1. Name: The name of the party shall be the
Communist Party of India (section of the Communist In-
ternational).

“Article 2. Object: The object of the party is the attain-
ment of socialism through the overthrow of imperialist
capitalist rule, the seizure of power by the working class,
and the establishment of the dictatorship of the proletariat

43a. Documents, Vol 2, p 349; cf also CPGB publication (on behalf
of CI) of an abridged Report of the Fifth Congress of the CI.

44. Meerut Record, P 1295—Minutes of the meeting.

45, Ibid, P 1300.

46. Ibid, P 416(7).
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in accordance with the program of the Communist Inter-
national and the policy from time to time by the party with
the agreement of the Communist International.”

Rest of the clauses of this draft constitution run paral-
lel to the constitution adopted in May 1927 and printed in
the annual report*” with certain improvements and pre-
cision. For instance, there is no presidium in this draft
constitution and the central executive committee is the
highest body between two annual conferences. It is signifi-
cant that the clause about the foreign bureau in the draft

constitution is almost identical to the same clause in the
constitution of 1927.

In connection with the proposal in the “Roy Letter” that
the WPP should be affiliated to the League against Impe-
rialism, facts are as follows: At the foundation conference
of League against Imperialism in Brussels in February 1927
the decision was taken to affiliate as many anti-imperialist
national organisations as well as trade unions in all coun-
tries as possible. Thus in May 1927 the All India Congress
Committee, on the initiative of Jawaharlal Nehru and the
WPP member in the same, took a decision to make the
Indian National Congress an associate member of the
League against Imperialism.*? In the same year a little later
the pamphlet India and China published in May 1927 on
behalf of WPP by S. S. Mirajkar and P. Spratt contained a
brief report and the decisions of the abovementioned Brus-
sels congress of the League against Imperialism.4?

At the Kanpur session of the AITUC in November 1927
the WPP members moved a resolution to get the TUC affi-
liated to the League against Imperialism. This was not
passed. This fact is mentioned in a letter by V. Chattopa-
dhyaya to S. A. Dange dated 18 September 1928. The same
letter mentions the idea of WPP publishing an illustrated
paper for the workers with the help of the League.

But the wholehearted support of the WPP to the League
against Imperialism could be expressed in terms of affilia-

47. Documents, Vol 3B, pp 207-11.
48. Cf ibid, p 28. 49. 1bid, p 9.
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tion only after the WPP had become an all-India organisa-
tion. Thus when the workers and peasants parties formed
in different provinces met together in an All-India Workers
and Peasants Conference in Calcutta in December 1928
they adopted a resolution: “Appendix I—affiliation to the
League against Imperialism—resolved that the general
secretary of the Workers and Peasants Party of India apply
for affiliation to the League against Imperialism and for
National Independence.” Actually a telegram was sent by
LAI to AIWPP conference. It reads: “In name executive
committee League against Imperialism we send heartiest
fraternal greetings your first all-India conference. Hope
your deliberations will result establishing strong organisa-
tion India’s working masses struggle against imperialism
and attainment national social liberty. Call upon you pro-
test expulsion Johnstone American trade wunionist sent
attend your conference as our fraternal delegate. Long live
Indian Workers and Peasants! Long live Independent
India. Signed International Secretariat Munzenberg, Chat-
topadhyaya.” v

This telegram never reached the cmj’terence as it was in-
tercepted by the police and later’ pzioduced in Meerut
conspiracy case as a prosecution document.5°

“Roy Letter” then goes on to refei‘ ‘to ‘“a representative
of the WPP who has come to Moscow whom Muzaffar
Ahmad (Edward) knows and who is now in the Lenin
School”. This refers to Soumyendranath Tagore, who left
India at the end of April 1927 and reached Moscow via
Paris and Berlin in June 1927. In this paragraph of the
letter Roy gives a sharply critical appraisal of Soumeyen
Tagore’s claim as a representative of the WPP and ot
the Communist Party of India and the reports he made to
the International on his arrival before Roy’s return to Mos-
cow from China. We will examine this appraisal in terms
of what Muzaffar Ahmad has written in his book The Com-
munist Party and its Formation Abroad in criticism of the
illegal pamphlet of Soumyen Tagore’s Historical De-

50. Meerut Record, P 1762.
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velopment of Communist Movement in India published in
December 1944.

Soumyendranath Tagore, a grandson of Rabindranath
Tagore, came in touch with WPP by reading a copy of
Langal the then organ of the Peasants and Workers Party
of Bengal which was sold in the streets of Calcutta in those
days. He says that he joined the Peasants and Workers
Party of Bengal and was elected a sectional secretary along
with Hemanta Sarkar in the first conference (Krishnagar)
of the party in 1926.51 According to official report of the
Peasants and Workers Party of Bengal this statement cof
Soumyen is not correct. Actually, Hemanta Kumar Sarkar
and Qutbuddin Ahmad were elected as “secretaries respec-
tively of the peasants and workers subcommittees” .52 But
it is a fact that at the second conference held in Calcutta
on 19 and 20 February 1927 he was elected as the general
secretary of the party.®

The circumstances in which Soumyen Tagore went
abroad have been described by Muzaffar Ahmad in his
book’* and basically confirmed by Soumyen Tagore in his
book.”s Soumyen Tagore’s contact with the revolutionary
groups and with the WPP had attracted the attention of
the police and his arrest was imminent. Charles Tegart,
the Calcutta police chief, told this to a member of the
Tagore family and suggested that it could be avoided if
Soumyen was sent abroad and that in that case a passport
would be issued to him forthwith. Soumyen reported this
to Muzaffar Ahmad and Nalini Gupta and it was agreed
that he should go abroad instead of spending time in jail.
Thus it is quite evident that it was not the WPP sending
him as its representative abroad but Soumyen was seeking
a credential from WPP to facilitate his stay and study
abroad with the help of the international workingclass

51. S. N. Tagore, Historical Development of Communist Movement in
India, p 7.

52. Call to Action, p 46.

53. Ibid, p 54.

54, The CPI and its Formation Abroad, p 160.

55. Yatri, pp 111-12, )
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organisations. At the time of leaving India Soumyen carried
a credential from the PWP Bengal of which Atul Chandra
Gupta was the chairman and himself the general secretary.
After reaching Europe Soumyen found that his credential
was not sufficient and he wrote to Muzaffar asking for simi-
lar credentials from the WPPs of Bombay and Madras. This
letter was intercepted by the police and was produced in
Meerut conspiracy case.®® Muzaffar Ahmad, who received
this letter, later said that he had helped Soumyen to the best
of ' his limited powers and so did Abdul Halim throughout
this period. Muzaffar Ahmad further said: “Anyway I assist-
ed him to receive recognition as a delegate. To comrade
Abdul Halim he sent by hand a long letter of 28 pages,
acknowledging that if Muzaffar Ahmad’s letter had not
reached at last, he would have had no standing in the inter-
national field.”?” We may further add that the annual
report of the CPI published in June 1927 which gives the
list of the members of the central executive committee
mentions Soumyen Tagore as a member and this fact must
have helped him in this direction. Soumyen himself records
that a copy of this report was in the hands of the ETCI
officials.?® o

Soumyen Tagore left for Moscow towards the end of
April 1927 and reached it via Paris and Berlin in June 1927.
Reaching Moscow, he met Luhani who put him in touch
with the officials of the executive of the CI. He was asked
to make two reports: (1) Condition of the CPI and (2)
Political situation in India. Luhani told him that real dis-
cussion on these reports would take place only after Roy’s
return from China. Roy’s reaction, possibly after reading
his reports, are summed up in the seven points which h=
has mentioned in this paragraph of his letter. Soumyen’s
pamphlet Historical Development, etc. gives us an idea of
the nature of the report he must have submitted to the CI.
Muzaffar Ahmad, commenting on the pamphlet, is highly
critical of these reports and points out their inadequacies

56. Meerut Record, P 2130.
57. The CPI and its Formation Abroad, pp 163-69.
58. Yatri, p 136.
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and their unauthorised character. Muzaffar Ahmad states:
“He knew something about Bengal but he was completely
ignorant about the rest of India. Besides he had not even
discussed things with us in order that he might present a
good report while he was abroad. And yet he concocted
some sort of a report and placed it before the Communist
International... Not content with Soumyendranath report
the representative of the Communist International began a
lengthy and exhaustive discussion with him regarding the
movement in India and the problems of party building.
Then they asked him to return to India and report back to
the party the discussions that had taken place.”s®

But Soumyen declined to go back as he wanted to stay
back for about six months for further study. So his request
was accepted and he was admitted to the Lenin School.®®

In the concluding part of the letter Roy makes three
organisational suggestions which he thought were neces-
sary at that time for the further development of the party.
These were: firstly, leading party comrades who were active
in the trade-union movement together with left nationalist
leaders working with the party should be sent for a
conference with the foreign bureau members some-
where in West Europe; secondly, the CPI should send a
resolution to the CI about the foreign bureau but what he
meant was the role of the foreign bureau according to his
understanding which was different from its role as defined
in the constitution of the CPI adopted in May 1927; thirdly,
the Masses run by him from abroad to be accepted as the
central organ of the party.

None of these suggestions, however, were accepted for
implementation by the party in India. No delegation was
or could be sent for such a conference. His conception of a
foreign bureau and its role and functioning was not accept-
ed as can be seen from the section on foreign bureau in the
constitution of 1927 which defined it as acting according to
the decisions of the CEC of the CPI, while according to

59. The CPI and its Formation Abroad, pp 165-66.
60. Ibid, p 166; Yarri, p 165.
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Roy’s definition the foreign bureau is defined as ‘“agency
of the CI” organisationally superior to the CPI. Thirdly,
the Masses which functioned up to 1928 as a monthly ceased
publication in April 1928. Though Masses played a useful
role in those early years, it had a very limited circulation
and could not act as the organ of the party when it hed
made a breakthrough to mass activities in 1928. Muzaffar
Ahmad’s suggestion referred to by Roy that the central
organ of the party should be printed and published inside
India directly under the leadership of the CPI was correct
and the party in India in those days (1928) was discussing
the possibility of its implementation. Actually, further
development of the party took place not on the basis of
Roy’s suggestion but through the development of the mili-
tant struggle of the working class and the growth of the
workers and peasants parties leading the struggle of the
toiling masses throughout India and placing a revolutionary
program before the national movement. The blow
the imperialists struck against this rising movement by
concocting the Meerut conspiracy case in 1929 against the
communists actually became the basis fdr emergence and
the political organisational growth of' the Communist
Party as a mass force. In this context itiis interesting to
record here the comment of Soumyendrar'ath Tagore 1in
his pamphlet.®? He wrote:

“Nothing made so much propaganda in India for com-
munism as did the Meerut conspiracy case. The entire
attention of political India was focused on the Meerut con-
spiracy case and hundreds of radical youths were drawn to
the Communist Party because of it. There was also good
bit of propaganda in the international press.

“One can say with justice that the Meerut conspiracy
case placed communism on a sure footing in India.”

61. Historical Development etc., p 20.
PHD-5
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v

WORKERS AND PEASANTS PARTIES SPREAD

We have already described how the Workers and
Peasants Party arose first in Bengal and a year later in
Bombay and their early political and mass activities. Com-
munists as well as leftwing elements in the Indian National
Congress who were turning to building class organisations
of workers and peasants took the initiative to form this
party. This we see in the fact that in Bengal, it was the
Labour Swaraj Party which became the Peasants and
Workers Party and later the Workers and Peasants Party
in early 1928. In Bombay it was the Congress Labour Party
which developed as the Workers and Peasants Party. As
we have seen, the WPP members took the initiative to put
forward the program of complete independence together
with socio-economic democratic demands of the people
before the AICC (May 1927). In the same year, this party,
both in Bengal and Bombay, was developing activities and
building a militant wing of the trade-union movement,
which first brought in the red flag. Thus at the end of 1927
a sizable leftwing of militant trade-unionists was function-
ing in the Kanpur session of the Trade Union Congress
(November) as well as at the Madras session of the Indian
National Congress (December) which was led by the WPP
members.

Already in 1927 the political and mass activities of the
WPPs in Bengal and Bombay were sufficiently impressive
and effective. The success of the political work and mass
activities of these parties had created the preconditions for
going forward to launch the Workers and Peasants Party
of India. Thus when the WPP of Bengal prepared a mani-
festo to the Madras session of Indian National Congress
Muzaffar Ahmad while sending a draft of the same to Majid’
for consultation asked him whether it should be in the
name of the all-India party.

When the meeting of WPP members
] present at th
Madras session of the INC was held on 28 December '1927?
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they not only decided to organise an all-India conference
for the formation of the Workers and Peasants Party of
India but also prepared a plan of drafting political and orga-
nisational documents for the purpose. There is on record of
the Meerut case an exhibit which appears to be the notes
of the decisions of this meeting.%? It states that a conference
should be convened in February-March 1928 in Calcutta to
which invitations should be sent “to WPP of Bombay
and Bengal, WPP of Punjab (if in existence), managers
of Kirti, Mehnatkash, etc., trade unions in Bengal, possibly
individuals of the Republican Party in Madras, to send
delegates with votes, the others to send nonvoting dele-
gates”. About the documents to be prepared for the confer-
ence it stated as follows: (1) “To formulate a thesis on the
existing situation, international and internal, economic and
political and hence to devise a comprehensive program otz
work and sketch of future lines of development, relation
to other parties and social groups and organisations” to ba
drafted by C. G. Shah and S. A. Dange.{2) “To formulats
resolutions on organisations of AT pqrqy and provincial
parties, methods of work, publications, fihance, etc.” to be
drafted by Shaukat Usmani and K. N. Joglekar. It also
mentions drafting of resolutions on quentgons of youth and
relation to student organisations as wgll as on questions
of trade-union movement. Further it wnq decided to pre-
pare a plan for the boycott campaign against the Simon
commission as an immediate task.

This rough outline of the program for preparation of the
all-India conference was taken up a month later when the
enlarged meeting of the CC of the WPFP Bombay met on
29 January 1928, where the leaders of WPP of Bengal were
also present. Organisation of the demonstration against the
Simon commission, which was to take place five days later,
ie on 3 February 1928, on its arrival, was the most urgent
question before the meeting. For this purpose 36 persons
representing various trade unions and other leftist elements
were invited to ensure the widest mobilisation and a reso-

62. Meerut Record, P 1373 (2).
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lution on the subject was also adopted. We have dealt with
this in an earlier section and also reproduced the text of
the resolution.

The main task before the meeting was to discuss and
finalise the documents to be placed before the all-India
conference. M. Ahmad and P. Spratt were present on behalf
of the WPP of Bengal. These documents were concretisa-
tion of the rough program chalked out at the Madras meet-
ing. Thus there was to be a document reviewing the inter-
national and national situation and outline the current task
of the party. This came before the meeting in the form of a
draft “General Political Situation”, which was often refer-
red to by Ghate as a thesis. The next document was on the
organisation of the party. There were three more docu-
ments: on trade unions, peasants and youth. The sixth
document was on the Simon commission. The proposed ali-
India conference, for which the five documents mentioned
above were prepared, was postponed to April and later on
to December 1928 when it actually took place in Calcutta.
But these draft documents were first put before the first
annual conference of WPP of Bombay on 18 March 1928 and
adopted after discussion and amendments. About two
weeks later these documents in a further improved form
were adopted at the third conference of the WPP of Ben-
gal held at Bhatpara from 31 March to 1 April 1928. The
documents reproduced here are from the text of A Call
to Action, an openly printed report and proceedings of the
Bhatpara conference.

Before we review these five documents we will briefly
describe the work done by the annual conferences at Bom-
bay and of Bengal which met in the latter half of March.

The first annual conference of the WPP of Bombay met
on the 18 March 1928. The source material for the proceeri-
ings of this conference are: (1) minutes recorded in the
minute book of the Bombay party,® (2) the report sent to
the press at the time by Ghate®t and a confidential report

63. Ibid, P 1344,
64. Ibid, P 1348 (24).
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made by the police at the time and now available in the
Maharashtra State Archives.%

We are not reproducing these here but summarising some
.of the basic facts emerging from these materials. The con-
ference was presided over by D. R. Thengdi and prominent
amongst those present were: S. V. Ghate, S. S. Mirajkar,
K. N. Joglekar, S. A. Dange, Lalji Pendse, P. Spratt, B.
Bradley, T. V. Parvate and R. S. Nimbkar. The conference
received messages of fraternal solidarity from the AITUC,
the CPGB and from the Peasant International (Krestintern)
in Moscow which were read out by S. A. Dange. The secre-
tary’s report presented by S. V. Ghate summarised tha
work done by the party in 1927. The main documents were
then put before the conference: General Political Situation
—by S. A. Dange, Trade Union—by K. N. Joglekar, Organ-
isation—by S. S. Mirajkar, Youth—by S. V. Ghate, Peasants
—by R. S. Nimbkar. Apart from these five documents which
were adopted by the conference after discussion and amend-
ments, the conference also adopted another document
entitled “Thesis on our Attitude towardg the Congress and
Present Labour Leadership”. We are',nét reproducing this
here because its tactical line is already.implicit in the other
documents. The main purpose of this last document was to
make clear to the party members that: the party, while
working in the Indian National Congress and in the AITUC,
takes an independent stand, that of the working class and
-of the toiling masses, which is one of opposing the compro-
mising attitude of the rightwing leadership of both the
-organisations. Refuting the charge that the WPP was taking
an anticongress stand it points out that its criticism of the
congress leadership is from the leftist angle and is always
striving to unite the leftists such as independents and re-
publicans to make the movement more consistently anti-
imperialist and revolutionary. It sums up the position of
the WPP thus: “It is plain from what had been said up till
now that the fight for swaraj cannot be divested of the class
conflict, if it is to be really fought by the people, who are

‘.65. Hom; Department Special Branch Report, File No 543(13).
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the most capable of it and have in the whole history ot
India done it.. Therefore, the WPP cannot divest its
nationalist activities of their workingclass character. The
two are inseparable.” Further, it is interesting to note that.
in another place it states that the position of the WPP in
this matter has been almost correctly interpreted in Modern
India by R. Palme Dutt published in Bombay. ‘

It reiterates that the WPP members working in the trade
unions are always ready to coopcrate with the leadeiship
in order to organise the workers and help them to unite in
fighting for their just and urgent demands on the basis of
one union in one industry. It further says that the WPP
members are often accused of advocating general strikces
and no compromise, violence and so on at every timec and
place.

Then it goes on to state the attitude of the WPP towards
workingclass struggles and its trade-union movement and
critically analyses the stand of the old leadership which
relies more on the goodwill and generosity of thc owning
class than in building the militant unity and the organisa-
tion of the working class. Without doubting the honesty of
the old leadership or minimising their role in the tradce-
union movement, it stresses that they ignore the fundamen-
tal conflict between capitalists and workers and are more
interested in gaining minor demands by collaborating with
the owners than in organising workers with a militant
spirit of changing the system as a whole. While the WPP,
on the other hand, continuously and persistently leads the
workers in their day-to-day struggle, it always places beforc
the workers the goal of changing the very system which
starves them. In this connection it is important to note the
cryptic reference to the presidential address in the Kanpur
session of the AITUC to the demand that “society must
own the things that produce its bread and living”. Actually
this was a fervent appeal made by the president which in
the text of the address reads as follows:

“I call upon you, comrades, to raise the banner of your -
ideals demanding nationalisation of land and industry, a-
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civilised existence, a government of the workers, and eco-
nomic system for the benefit of humanity. ..

Refuting the charge that the WPP brings politics into
the trade-union movement, it points out that the old leader-
ship is also demanding that the workers should have the
right to vote and that labour should be properly represent-
ed in the legislature—a correct demand in those days when
there was no adult suffrage. But the politics they wanted
the workers to follow was the politics of the employer. The
urgent need of the hour, the document stresses, is to
organise the workers and peasants for winning: “More
wages, shorter hours for the workers, more land and less
taxation for the peasants.” So long as the old leadership
wants these demands to be realised by the solid organisa-
tion of the workers and their struggle and not merely
through parliamentary work there is no reason why they
should reject the cooperation of the WPP or misunderstand
it.

The general line to decide whether 